

LUND UNIVERSITY

Coastal signals of environmental changes: foraminifera as benthic monitors

Brinkmann, Inda

2022

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Brinkmann, I. (2022). Coastal signals of environmental changes: foraminifera as benthic monitors. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Quaternary Sciences]. Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Coastal signals of environmental changes: foraminifera as benthic monitors

INDA BRINKMANN QUATERNARY SCIENCES | DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY | LUND UNIVERSITY 2022



Coastal signals of environmental changes: foraminifera as benthic monitors

Inda Brinkmann



Quaternary Sciences Department of Geology

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on October 21, 2022, at 09:15 a.m. in Pangea, Geocentrum II, Sölvegatan 12, Lund, .

> *Faculty opponent* Prof. Michal Kucera MARUM, University of Bremen, Germany

Funding information: This PhD project has been funded by the Swedish Research Council (grant no. 2017-04190), the Crafoord Foundation, the Royal Physiographic Society of Lund, and Lund University.

© 2022 Inda Brinkmann Paper I © 2021, the Authors. Paper II © Inda Brinkmann (unpublished manuscript) Paper III © 2022, the Authors. Paper IV © Inda Brinkmann (unpublished manuscript) Cover image, front: Inda Brinkmann; back: Jonas Donnenfield; illustrations: Inda Brinkmann

Quaternary Sciences Department of Geology Faculty of Science

ISBN 978-91-87847-66-0 (print)

ISBN 978-91-87847-67-7 (pdf)

ISSN 0281-3033

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY Department of Geology Sölvegatan 12 SE-223 62 Lund Sweden	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
	Date of issue: 21 Oct 2022
Author: Inda Brinkmann	Sponsoring organization

Title: Coastal signals of environmental changes: foraminifera as benthic monitors

Abstract

Climate changes, tightly linked to anthropogenic activities, are significantly altering environments and ecosystems globally, such as by increasing marine and coastal deoxygenation or occurrences of extreme weather events. The significance of paleoenvironmental and -climate reconstructions, as well as monitoring of current conditions, for unravelling baseline natural variation, today's changes and potential future impacts, has been recognised by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) reports. However, to access past records of physical and chemical environmental variables, and comprehensively assess ecosystem reactions, reliable and sensitive proxies are critical.

This thesis' focus lies on benthic foraminifera—unicellular protists with mineralised or organic test, abundantly inhabiting ocean and coastal sediments and their calibration as indicator for a variety of environmental conditions in field-sampling approaches. The research projects follow two general strategic tracks: (I) a biogeochemical assessment of trace-elemental ratios in foraminiferal calcium-carbonate tests using high-resolution, micro-analytical techniques; (II) a molecular approach investigating foraminiferal environmental DNA derived from coastal sediments.

Papers I and II concern the calibration of the benthic foraminiferal Mn/Ca proxy for marine oxygenation conditions in modern field studies. Trace-element concentrations and distributions were measured by plasma-, laser- and synchrotron-based analyses in a high-resolution, individual-foraminifera approach, and interpreted in the context of ambient physical and chemical conditions of the water column, pore-waters and sediments (including oxygen and manganese concentrations). Investigating two coastal systems with almost permanently severely oxygen-deficient bottom-waters (Santa Barbara Basin, Paper I), and undergoing a seasonal oxygenation cycle across the low- to well-oxygenated range (Gullmar Fjord, Paper II), respectively, demonstrated the utility of the Mn/Ca proxy for indicating low-oxygen conditions specifically. Continued calibration efforts under consideration of ambient oxygenation and redox regimes may open further possibilities of quantitative oxygen reconstructions. Paper III explores the use of coastal, benthic Ba/Ca records as indicator of riverine runoff and drought on land across the years 2018 and 2019, characterised by severe heat and drought, and warm and wet conditions, respectively. Benthic Ba/Ca correlated significantly with the hydroclimate conditions, as inferred from extensive meteorological and hydrological data sets of the region, highlighting qualitative proxy potential for paleo-drought reconstructions. Based on ambient sediment and pore-water geochemistry, we discuss mediation of water-column transport and pore-water Ba cycling by Fe and Mn oxides. All three investigations of these geochemical proxies (Paper I–III) highlighted the significance of biological controls on foraminiferal TE/Ca, which are species-specific and, thus, should be a deciding factor in choosing proxy candidate species. In particular the influences of micro-habitat distribution and utilised metabolic pathways by foraminifera are discussed in detail.

In Paper IV foraminiferal biodiversity and assemblage responses to natural and anthropogenic environmental trends in a fjord system (Swedish west coast) are documented in a metabarcoding approach. Environmental DNA successfully tracked biodiversity and community composition changes associated with contrasting ecosystems but showed damped sensitivity to environmental variability on sub-annual time-scales. Overlaps and discrepancies between molecular and traditional, observation-based assessment techniques, as well as future trajectories to resolve uncertainties are discussed.

Overall, this thesis solidifies and expands the currently available proxy toolbox for reconstructions of both coastal low-oxygen, as well as terrestrial hydroclimate conditions. The findings contribute towards filling current knowledge gaps pertaining to biotic impacts on foraminifera-derived biogeochemical signals and methodological uncertainties in metabarcoding approaches and highlight the significance of implementing molecular techniques in conventional foraminiferal assemblage studies.

Key words: benthic foraminifera, proxy calibration, trace element geochemistry, environmental DNA, deoxygenation, drought, coastal environments				
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical information	Language: English			
ISSN and key title: 0281-3033 LUNDQUA THESIS	ISBN: 978-91-87847-66-0			
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 184	Price		
Security classification				

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature:

1.Bi

Date: 16. Sept. 2022

Contents

LIST OF PAPERS	6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
1 INTRODUCTION	9
2 SCOPE OF THESIS	9
3 BACKGROUND	9
3.1 Oxygen depletion in coastal waters	10
3.2 Drought and heatwaves	11
3.2 Foraminifera as indicators of past and current environmental changes	12
3.3 Geochemical cycling	13
Manganese cycling at the sediment-water interface	13
(Coastal) marine barium cycling	14
4 STUDY SITES	14
4.1 Santa Barbara Basin	15
4.2 Gullmar Fjord, Havstens Fjord, Koljö Fjord	15
5 METHODS	17
5.1 Field data collection	17
5.2 Foraminifera species of special interest	18
Nonionella stella (T6)	18
Nonionellina labradorica (T5)	18
Bulimina marginata	19
5.3 Geochemical micro-analyses	19
Epoxy embedding	20
Laser-ablation Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry	20
Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry	21
Synchrotron-based X-ray Fluorescence mapping	21
5.4 Molecular techniques: Metabarcoding and barcoding	22
6. SUMMARY OF PAPERS: RESULTS	23
Paper I	23
Paper II	24
Paper III	24
Paper IV	25

7 DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVES			
7.1 Inferences facilitated by in-field investigations for the calibration of proxies			
Fjords as field-laboratories	26		
Scope of the Mn/Ca proxy for bottom-water oxygenation	27		
7.2 Biological uncertainties of biogeochemical proxies and implications for palaeo-applications	27		
Proxy potential of Bulimina marginata	28		
Proxy potential of <i>Nonionella stella</i> and <i>Nonionellina labradorica</i>	29		
7.3 Integration of molecular techniques in foraminiferal studie	s 29		
Biodiversity assessments and bioindication	29		
Geochemical proxy calibrations and applications	30		
8. CONCLUSIONS	31		
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	33		
REFERENCES	34		
PAPER I	51		
PAPER II	75		
PAPER III	101		
PAPER IV	117		
LUNDQUA PUBLICATIONS	182		

List of papers

Paper I

Foraminiferal Mn/Ca as Bottom-Water Hypoxia Proxy: An Assessment of *Nonionella stella* in the Santa Barbara Basin, USA Brinkmann, I., Ni, S., Schweizer, M., Oldham, V. E., Quintana Krupinski, N. B., Medjoubi, K., Somogyi, A., Whitehouse, M. J., Hansel, C. M., Barras, C., Bernhard, J. M., & Filipsson, H. L. (2021) *Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology*, 36, e2020PA004167 https://doi.org/10.1029/2020PA004167

Paper II

Benthic foraminiferal Mn/Ca as low-oxygen proxy in fjord sediments Brinkmann, I., Barras, C., Jilbert, T., Paul, K. M., Somogyi, A., Ni, S., Schweizer, M., Bernhard, J. M., & Filipsson, H. L. (manuscript)

Paper III

Drought recorded by Ba/Ca in coastal benthic foraminifera Binkmann, I., Barras, C., Jilbert, T., Næraa, T., Paul, K. M., Schweizer, M., & Filipsson, H. L. (2022) *Biogeosciences*, 19, 2523–2535 https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-19-2523-2022

Paper IV

Through the eDNA looking glass: Responses of fjord benthic foraminiferal communities to contrasting environmental conditions

Brinkmann, I., Schweizer, M., Singer, D., Quinchard, S., Barras, C., Bernhard, J. M., & Filipsson, H. L. (in review at The Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology)

Acknowledgements

First of all, Helena L. Filipsson: You provided foundation and room for my progress, and I'm thankful for having had you as my main supervisor. I appreciate your positive mindset, and you always having my back throughout the years. Thank you for the endless encouragement, many opportunities, and ideas you shared with me.

No less, I thank my co-supervisors. Joan M. Bernhard, working with you was an inspiration, and your devotion to giving thorough feedback, often at short notice, did not go unnoticed. Christine Barras, the discussions I had with you and your advice were extremely appreciated; thank you for believing in me. Magali Schweizer, thank you for welcoming me to the molecular world of foraminiferal research; I highly value the new perspectives and your patient support.

I'm grateful to the many people who contributed to my research, for being so generous with their time and sharing their knowledge and experience with me. I learned so much from you:

All my co-authors, and especially: Tom Jilbert, and workgroup, for discussions and explanations of coastal geochemistry. Tomas Næraa, for figuring out the best way to laser-ablate my samples, and advice on data processing. Andrea Somogyi and Kadda Medjoubi at NANO-SCOPIUM, for their support before, during and after the analyses. The same goes for Martin Whitehouse, Kerstin Lindén and Heejin Jeon at Nordsim. Sha Ni and Constance Choquel, for answering so many of my foraminifera questions, and David Singer, for guiding me through the eDNA and R code jungle. Thanks to the senior members of the LPG in Angers, for constructively and critically discussing my data, and thanks to the PhD students, for welcoming me during my several stays. Dirk Müter, for the 3D scans of Nonionella stella, Carl Alwmark, for assisting with the SEM, and Ezgi Vardar and Gioele Pappalardo, who picked foraminifera for me. Thanks also to the Captains and crews of R/V 'Oscar von Sydow' and R/V 'Skagerak', the staff of the Kristineberg Center for Marine Research and Innovation, as well as Hanna Nilsson, Sami Jokinen, and everyone else who helped out during the sampling campaigns.

Gratitude also goes to all the funders of my projects and travels, especially the Swedish Research Council, the Crafoord Foundation, the Royal Physiographic Society of Lund and the Carl Swartz Memorial Fund, without who's support my work would not have been possible. I thank all current and former colleagues at the Department of Geology, for making the department a pleasant place to work at, and particularly Gert Pettersson, Åsa Wallin, Git Ahlberg, Isa Doverbratt, members of kansliet, the library and administration for helping out with everyday work difficulties.

An added thank-you goes to all the PhD students and post-docs, for the company and commiseration. Especially those whom I shared an office with: Constance, Jonas, Maria, Minjie, Nisha, and have become my friends: Josefin, Lena, Megan, Miriam.

Finally, I thank those in my personal life who offered comfort, encouragement or distraction along the way or parts thereof. You being there made a difference.

Lund, September 2022

Inda

1 Introduction

Today's environment has been and still is fundamentally changing in its physical, chemical and biological conditions, forced by global warming and human impacts, as recognised by the 5th and 6th assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (Cooley et al., 2022; Parmesan et al., 2022; Rhein et al., 2013). In coastal marine environments, deoxygenation is one of the most ecologically challenging symptoms, evoked by anthropogenic warming and eutrophication (e.g., Breitburg et al., 2018; Laffoley & Baxter, 2019; Limburg et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2010), and demanding active monitoring and adaptations (e.g., Gilbert et al., 2010; Harley et al., 2006; Rhein et al., 2013; Toimil et al., 2020). The terrestrial realm is challenged by an unprecedented frequency, duration, and intensity of extreme weather events, stressing ecosystems as well as society, agriculture, and economy (e.g., Kron et al., 2019; Toreti et al., 2019). Predictions show further accelerations in the near future of both deoxygenation and extreme weather patterns (e.g., Cook et al., 2020; Rabalais et al., 2010; Tetard et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2010). These present-day environmental transitions, as well as their underlying forcing mechanisms, urge a contextual understanding of natural variability in order to better understand severity and implications.

Observations of current and past changes are vital to explore climate and ecosystem dynamics and interactions, and can provide a baseline for future comparisons, as well as support management strategies (e.g., Heinze et al., 2021). Records of past variability are especially valuable for inferences on temporal development and responses of ecosystems, and vital for calibrating and testing climate models more effectively. Direct (instrumental) observations of climate factors are inherently limited temporally, spatially, as well as for practical reasons. In contrast, indirect measures by substitute variables, such as bioindicators and biogeochemical proxies, allow comprehensive understanding of environmental dynamics and consequences in the past and current, including biotic changes and ecosystem reactions (e.g., Holt & Miller, 2011; Markert et al., 2003). However, to exploit the full potential of proxies, reliable calibrations specific to the used indicator and environmental variable in question are imperative. In particular quantitative proxies for bottom-water oxygenation are not fully constrained (e.g., Gooday

et al., 2009; Koho *et al.*, 2017), and most previous reconstructions are only qualitative (e.g., Erdem *et al.*, 2020; McKay *et al.*, 2015).

Foraminifera, single-celled microorganisms in the group Rhizaria residing in either the water-column (planktonic life habitat) or sea-floor (benthic life habitat, in focus of this thesis) of dominantly the marine realm, are important palaeo-recorders of past environmental variability (e.g., Katz et al., 2010; Kucera, 2007; Murray, 2006). Palaeoenvironmental reconstructions are based both on diversity and composition of assemblages, as well as the chemical composition of foraminiferal calcium-carbonates. Benthic foraminifera, living in or on the sediment, inform both about bottom-water conditions as well as in-sediment geochemical cycling. In coastal settings benthic records have the potential to link marine and terrestrial climate records. In recent decades, efforts have been made to establish extant foraminifera for bioindication and biomonitoring purposes (e.g., Alve et al., 2016; Barras et al., 2014; Bouchet et al., 2012), partially relying on new molecular methods (e.g., Cavaliere et al., 2021; Laroche et al., 2016; Pawlowski et al., 2018). Foraminifera-based records have the potential to link past and present environmental variability, thus, presenting a powerful tool informing baselines, ecosystem responses and recovery, and current environmental changes. However, persistent challenges associated with biological controls on foraminifers' proxy potential (e.g., Barras et al., 2018; Koho et al., 2017; van Dijk et al., 2019; Zeebe et al., 2008), as well as methodological uncertainties of molecular approaches (e.g., O'Brien et al., 2021), call for the expansion and further calibration of proxies in modern settings. Here we use in situ approaches investigating living foraminifera assemblages and biogeochemical signals in context of measured physical and chemical environmental factors, to calibrate proxies and elucidate biological biases.

2 Scope of thesis

3 Background

The aim of my thesis is to improve foraminifera-based proxies for the investigation of climatic and environmental changes affecting coasts and transitional marine settings, constrain associated (biological) uncertainties, and contribute to a better understanding of modern foraminiferal ecology and biomineralization.

The overarching objectives of this thesis can be summarised as:

- Develop and improve foraminiferal proxies by analysing modern field-sampled foraminifera over temporal and spatial environmental gradients
- Investigate abiotic and biotic controls on trace-element incorporation in foraminifera using high-resolution micro-analytical techniques and comparing species of contrasting lifestyles
- Assess the reliability of foraminifera-based environmental inferences by comparing records of ambient physical and chemical conditions, and/ or established foraminiferal indicators

To achieve these aims, my thesis work comprises both geochemical and molecular approaches (Fig. 1).

3.1 Oxygen depletion in coastal waters

The oceans' oxygen inventory globally has decreased by more than 2% within the last century (e.g., Schmidtko et al., 2017), and this decrease in dissolved oxygen concentrations is most prevalent and severe in coastal waters (e.g., Gilbert et al., 2010). The phenomenon of coastal deoxygenation is generally a seasonal feature, with only ca. 8 % of coastal settings being permanently depleted of oxygen (Diaz & Rosenberg, 2008). Deoxygenation is often associated with the term 'hypoxia', referring to a condition where oxygen depletion becomes harmful for marine life. For instance, oxygen thresholds below which mortality of macro-organisms, such as fishes, increases significantly (e.g., Rosenberg et al., 1991; Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte, 2008). However, the definition of oxygen concentration limits for hypoxia is arbitrary, and further inconsistency stems from the variety of units currently in use to express oxygen concentrations. Commonly used are the units ml/l, mg/l and $\mu mol/l$ —with the following conversions: $1.0 \text{ ml/l} = 1.4 \text{ mg/l} = 44.66 \mu \text{mol/l} \text{ O}_2$ —as well as the equivalents with kg as denominator. Definitions of hypoxia frequently centre around an upper limit of 2 mg/l or 2 ml/l (e.g., Diaz & Rosenberg, 1995; Rabalais et al., 2010), which correspond to a value of 63 and 89 µmol/l, respectively. Naturally, tolerance to oxygen-depletion varies between, or even within, groups of organisms (Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte, 2008), as well as in correlation with other environmental factors such as temperature (Vaquer-Sunyer

Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV	
				Study site(s)
SBB				near-coast environment; using spatial sampling approach
	Gullmar Fjord	Gullmar Fjord	fjord systems	estuarine environment; using spatial and temporal sampling approach
				foraminifera as proxy for environmental changes
Mn/Ca	Mn/Ca			bottom-water oxygenation with focus on low-oxygen conditions
		Ba/Ca		hydroclimate conditions: drought and riverine discharge
			eDNA	multiple environmental stressors variable on different temporal scales
				proxy calibration approach
SIMS, XRF	LA-ICP-MS, XRF	LA-ICP-MS		high-resolution geochemical micro-analyses
barcoding			meta-/barcoding	molecular techniques
				record of ambient physical and chemical environmental and/or climate variables

Fig. 1 Display of projects and approaches dealt with in this thesis.

& Duarte, 2011). Based on oxygen tolerances of benthic foraminifera Kranner *et al.* (2022) defined ranges as follows: oxic > 1.5 ml/l, suboxic = 1.5–0.3 ml/l, dysoxic = 0.3-0.1 ml/l (corresponding to 67, 67–13 and 13–5 µmol/l O₂). In summary, depending on research object or objective, different definitions of hypoxia are relevant, hindering the universal implementation of generic values.

In aquatic systems, dissolved oxygen concentrations are dictated by physical and biogeochemical mechanisms representing sources (mainly chemical or physical transport) and sinks of oxygen (mainly consumption via respiration, organic matter degradation, oxidation pathways) (Fig. 2). A system imbalance favouring oxygen sinks causes deoxygenation (e.g., Oschlies et al., 2018; Pena et al., 2010; Pitcher et al., 2021). In bottom-waters, the oxidation of organic matter by aerobic remineralisation is the main sink of oxygen. This consumption mechanism is driven by upper ocean primary productivity and associated downward fluxes of nutrients, as well as warming, which increases respiration rates of biota (e.g., Carstensen et al., 2014; Gilbert et al., 2010; Rabalais et al., 2002; Vázquez-Domínguez et al., 2007). In turn, oxygen is dominantly supplied to deep waters by vertical mixing and diffusion. These processes experience negative feedbacks from warming: reduction of ventilation rates and intensification of stratification (e.g., Gilbert et al., 2005; Monteiro & van der Plas, 2006). Increasing temperatures further reduce the solubility of gases (i.e., oxygen storage capacity). In coastal settings, geomorphological features such as sills may affect water circulation and stratification through the isolation of water masses from the open ocean. Additionally, the close proximity to the continent associates coastal waters with increased anthropogenic influences, of which nutrient input by agriculture and industry can play a significant role in driving deoxygenation (i.e., eutrophication; e.g., Conley et al., 2011; Kemp et al., 2005; Rabalais et al., 2010).

3.2 Drought and heatwaves

Extreme weather events have been increasing globally over the last decades (e.g., Bastos et al., 2020; Russo et al., 2015). The frequency, intensity, and extent of heatwaves and droughts is predicted to further accelerate in the near future (e.g., Diffenbaugh et al., 2017; Field et al., 2012; Lehner et al., 2017), with negative effects on imporant sectors of the global economy, (agriculture and energy) (e.g., Brás et al., 2021; Freire-González et al., 2017; Naumann et al., 2015) and human health (e.g., review by Weilnhammer et al., 2021). In recent years, northern and central Europe experienced a series of extremely hot and dry conditions in short succession—2003, 2006, 2012, 2015, 2018, and most recently 2022 (e.g., Bastos et al., 2020; Kornhuber et al., 2019b; Peters et al., 2020; Toreti et al., 2022). Such conditions are unprecedented in the past c. 2000 years (Büntgen et al., 2021), and tightly connected to anthropogenic, global warming (e.g., Kornhuber et al., 2019a; Vogel et al., 2019). The consequences can be devastating, particularly in regions not accustomed to seasonally high temperatures and low precipitation rates such as northern Europe.

Drought is a complex phenomenon, influenced by both physical and biological processes and interactions thereof, specifically precipitation, evaporation, and transpiration. The definition of drought (Fig. 3) differs by the affected compartments of the hydrological cycle (or ecology, socioeconomy), and describes a deviation from normal conditions on local scale: meteorological drought refers to the lack of precipitation; agricultural drought is the deficit in soil moisture; and hydrological drought is the deficiency in streamflow and/or water storages,, and a comprehensive measure representing accumulated responses after propagation through the hydrological cycle (e.g., Tallaksen & Van Lanen, 2004).



Fig. 2a Simplified schematic of sinks and sources of oxygen to the ocean, and 2b changes to these mechanisms under warming and eutrophication.

Currently, the ability of Earth system models to accurately render pre- and post-industrial drought patterns and forcing mechanisms appear insufficient (e.g., Büntgen *et al.*, 2021; Gómez-Navarro *et al.*, 2013, 2015). Palaeo-reconstructions of drought events, extending the temporal and spatial scale of instrumental records, are vital to assess the natural variability and reoccurrence patterns of droughts, understand underlying forcing mechanisms and put the severity of current droughts into context. The majority of palaeo-drought records derive from terrestrial records, relying in particular on dendrochronology (e.g., Cook *et al.*, 2015; Steiger *et al.*, 2018). Marine proxies are in use as well, albeit largely restricted to applications in tropical environments (e.g., D'Olivo & McCulloch, 2022; McCulloch *et al.*, 2003; Saha *et al.*, 2018). Annual series with alternations between extreme and 'normal' weather conditions provide ideal conditions for the exploration of new potential proxies based on modern data over annual scales.



Fig. 3 Interplay between different types of drought (adapted from the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, SMHI, 2022).

3.2 Foraminifera as indicators of past and current environmental changes

Foraminifera (Rhizaria) are defined by unicellularity, the possession of a shell (referred to as test), as well as pseudopodia (i.e., protrusions of ectoplasm, largely used for locomotion and feeding) (Adl et al., 2005). The group is primarily known from those representatives that produce a mineralised test (by precipitation of calcium-carbonate or agglutination of foreign particles)-due to their interest for micropalaeontology-, although a wide diversity of foraminifera exists that in fact do not produce a hard structure surrounding their cell (i.e., organic-walled). Conventionally, the taxonomic classification of foraminifera is based on the morphology and composition of the tests (e.g., Cushman, 2013; Tappan & Loeblich, 1988), which were the only observable features of fossil material and extant specimens before the advent of molecular techniques. Molecular phylogenetic studies ranked foraminifera into the classes of Globothalamea (globular, multi-chambered, mineralised tests)—including Textulariida (agglutinated tests) and Rotaliida (calcitic, hvaline tests)-and Tubothalamea (tubular, multi-chambered mineralised tests)—including Miliolida (porcelaneous tests)—, on the one hand, and a paraphyletic group comprising all single-chambered, organic-walled foraminifera ('monothalamids') (Pawlowski *et al.*, 2013). In particular the group of monothalamids has long received little attention in research, due to their low preservation potential in the geologic record and, thus, limited interest to micropalaeontologists. Nevertheless, monothalamids are highly abundant and diverse with long evolutionary history, predating that of mineralised, multi-chambered groups, and putatively include taxa highly relevant as bioindicators (e.g., Pawlowski *et al.*, 2002, 2003, 2008; Sierra *et al.*, 2022; Tsuchiya *et al.*, 2013).

Hard-shelled foraminifera have an extensive, well described fossil record, well resolved evolutionary history, and are used both for biostratigraphy and as indicators of palaeoenvironmental and -eco-logical conditions (e.g., Katz *et al.*, 2010; Murray, 2006). Palaeo-reconstructions focus, on the one hand, on the diversity of foraminiferal assemblages and presence, absence and/or abundance of taxa, which can be indicative of specific physicochemical environments. On the other hand, the geochemical

composition of calcium-carbonate tests can shed light on physical and chemical conditions ambient during the precipitation of the tests. Alongside calcium (Ca) and carbonate (CO_2) , other elements (e.g., Mg, Sr, Mn, Ba) are incorporated into the tests during precipitation in relation to availability in the surroundings and/or guided by thermodynamics. Both the concentration of certain trace elements, as well as the ratio of an element's isotopes, can be useful as indicators of environmental conditions (see review by Katz et al., 2010; also e.g., Epstein et al., 1951; McCrea, 1950; Nürnberg et al., 1996; Pearson, 2012). One of the most prominent examples is the use of foraminiferal biogeochemistry as a palaeothermometer-by the tests' oxygen isotope ratio $(\delta^{18}O)$ (e.g., Bernis *et al.*, 1998; Shackleton, 1967), or Mg/Ca (e.g., Lear et al., 2000; Nürnberg et al., 1996).

Foraminifera are still abundant in the benthic and pelagic zone of oceans and coastal marine settings today (e.g., Pawlowski et al., 2003; Sen Gupta, 1999). Some taxa occupy even the freshwater and terrestrial realm (e.g., review by Holzmann et al., 2021; see also e.g., Siemensma et al., 2021; Thakur et al., 2022). Interest in extant foraminifera mainly derives from the aim to improve proxy calibrations through modern analogue studies and by gaining a better understanding of biology and biomineralisation mechanisms. Several biological processes ('vital effects') have been shown to potentially influence the precipitation and/or composition of test calcium-carbonates (e.g., Angell, 1980; Bé et al., 1979; Bentov et al., 2009; de Nooijer et al., 2009; 2014b), introducing uncertainties in the relationship between geochemical signals of seawater and test (e.g. Epstein et al., 1951; Nürnberg et al., 1996; Urey et al., 1951; Zeebe et al., 2008). The biomineralisation process of foraminifera is still not fully understood (e.g. Erez, 2003), and several conceptual models have been proposed (e.g., Bentov et al., 2009; Borrelli et al., 2018b; Elderfield et al., 1996; Nehrke et al., 2013), which may differ between species (e.g., de Nooijer et al., 2014b; ter Kuile et al., 1989). A detailed review of calcification strategies is given in de Noojer et al. (2014b), as well as Barras et al. (2018).

Furthermore, within the last two decades, efforts were made to develop foraminifera-based biotic indices for modern environmental studies and eventually integrate foraminifera into ecological and environmental monitoring programs (e.g., Barras *et al.*, 2014; Bouchet *et al.*, 2021; Jorissen *et al.*, 2018; Parent *et al.*, 2021; Schönfeld *et al.*, 2012). With the advancement and increased accessibility of molecular tools the integration of metabarcoding into biological assessments has become more commonplace (e.g., Cavaliere *et al.*, 2021; Frontalini *et al.*, 2018, 2020; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2018).

3.3 Geochemical cycling

Manganese cycling at the sediment-water interface

Manganese (Mn) is a redox-sensitive element that has received increasing attention as proxy for low oxygen conditions, such as by the manganese-to-calcium ratio (Mn/Ca) in biogenic calcium-carbonates (e.g., Barras et al., 2018; Glock et al., 2012; Groeneveld & Filipsson, 2013; Groeneveld et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2019, 2021; Koho et al., 2015; McKay et al., 2015; Ní Fhlaithearta et al., 2010, 2018; Petersen et al., 2019; Reichart et al., 2003). The trace element is actively involved in biogeochemical cycling and biological processes, including (de-)nitrification (e.g., Aller et al., 1990; Mortimer et al., 2002, 2004). In marine surface sediments, Mn cycling is controlled by oxidation and reduction reactions during bacterial organic matter decomposition, for which bottom- and pore-water oxygen concentrations are a major variable (e.g., Burdige, 1993; Slomp et al., 1997; Sundby & Silverberg, 1985; Thamdrup et al., 1994) (Fig. 4). Organic matter degradation turns to anaerobic pathways after the depletion of oxygen, causing steep vertical redox gradients in pore-waters, including Mn (e.g., Froelich et al., 1979; Soetaert et al., 1996; Sundby, 2006; Wijsman et al., 2001). Manganese (oxyhydr-)oxides (IV)



Fig. 4 Schematic representations of the sedimentary manganese cycle under various bottom-water oxygenation conditions (adapted from Slomp et al., 1997).

are reduced to soluble Mn (II, III) under oxygen depletion, which may diffuse upwards until re-oxidisation under oxic conditions (e.g. Burdige et al., 2016; Froelich et al., 1979; Mouret et al., 2009; Thamdrup, 2000; Tribovillard et al., 2006). To a small extent also downward diffusion occurs, and Mn carbonates form under supersaturation in deeper anoxic lavers (e.g., Froelich et al., 1979; Tribovillard et al., 2006). Hence, under low-oxygen conditions, dissolved Mn concentrations will be elevated in pore-waters, as dissolved Mn is released but no re-oxidation can take place (Havig et al., 2015; Koho et al., 2015; Middelburg et al., 1987; Scholz et al., 2013; Slomp et al., 1997). In the case of bottom-water anoxia, diffusion of Mn²⁺ into the water-column interrupts sedimentary recycling, leading to low benthic Mn availability (e.g., Koho et al., 2015; Konovalov et al., 2007; Law et al., 2009; Slomp et al., 1997; Sundby & Silverberg, 1985). While both dissolved Mn(II) and Mn(III) are potentially bioavailable (e.g., Madison et al., 2011; Oldham et al., 2015, 2017), only Mn(II) is incorporated in biogenic calcium-carbonates as foraminifera tests (van Dijk et al., 2019). Hence, as the Mn redoxcline varies with the oxygenation state of pore- (and bottom-) waters (Fig. 4), Mn/Ca of foraminifera of specific in-sediment habitats can reflect the system's oxygenation state.

(Coastal) marine barium cycling

Barium (Ba) in seawater is dominantly sourced terrestrially from the dissolved load of rivers, land runoff and groundwater, as well as riverine sediments, where barium occurs as solid (e.g., Wolgemuth & Broecker, 1970). To a much lesser degree, hydrothermal vents also contribute Ba (e.g., Elderfield & Schultz, 1996). Estuarine mixing behaviour modulates dissolved Ba availability in seawater at the transition between fluvial and marine environments, where low to medium salinities drive desorption of Ba²⁺ from fluvial suspended matter by cation exchanges (e.g., Coffey et al., 1997; Hanor & Chan, 1977) (Fig. 5). This close relationship between dissolved barium availability and terrestrial freshwater input has motivated the use of Ba/Ca in planktonic foraminifera (e.g., Bahr et al., 2013; Lea & Boyle, 1991; Mojtahid et al., 2019)—and less commonly also benthic foraminifera (Groeneveld et al., 2018; Ni et al., 2020)—as a freshwater or salinity proxy in coastal settings.

Marine Ba is associated with various solid phases, including carbonates, clays, organic matter, oxyhydroxides, and barite (BaSO4) (e.g., Coffey et al., 1997; Dehairs et al., 1980; McManus et al., 1998). Barite formation is controlled by biologic activity-dissolved Ba is adsorbed or bound to primary producers and forms biogenic barite upon organic matter degradation in the water column (e.g., Dehairs et al., 1980; Martinez-Ruiz et al., 2019)-although the exact mechanisms are still under discussion (see review by Carter et al., 2020; also e.g., Griffith & Paytan, 2012; Paytan & Griffith, 2007; Paytan & Kastner, 1996). The process of adsorption and particulate Ba formation is a function of depth as the material sinks through the water column (e.g., Von Breymann et al., 1992). At depth, the majority of barite dissolves due to undersaturation in bottom-waters and surface sediments (e.g., Chow & Goldberg, 1960; McManus et al., 1998; Paytan & Kastner, 1996). The coupling between benthic barium (e.g., sedimentary barite or biogenic Ba/Ca) and primary productivity is frequently used to estimate palaeo-productivty in open-ocean records (e.g., Carter et al., 2020; Dymond et al., 1992; Mojtahid et al., 2019; Ní Fhlaithearta et al., 2010). The main barium fluxes in coastal and open-ocean settings are summarised in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5 Schematic representations of barium fluxes in seawater of near-coast environments and open ocean. OM = organic matter.

4 Study sites

Near-coast settings are the focus of this thesis, as those are especially vulnerable in both an ecological, societal and economic sense, and represented by the Santa Barbara Basin off Southern California and three fjords along the Swedish west coast (Gullmar, Havstens and Koljö Fjord). While all coastal, the study areas differ distinctly in their hydrography, bathymetry, geochemistry, marine influences, and timescale of environmental variability. Hence, a wide spectrum of chemical and physical conditions is represented, favourable to the calibration of environmental proxies, and offering insights into potential beneficial or adverse factors to proxy applications by comparison.

Both regions have a long history of palaeoceanographic research, and are monitored contemporarily, providing context of environmental variability on short and long timescales. The California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations (CalCOFI) Program has routinely collected quarterly hydrographic data over the past five decades in the Santa Barbara Basin. For the Swedish west coast, detailed hydrographic data sets are offered by the Water Quality Association of the Bohus Coast (Bohuskustens vattenvårdsförbund) and Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (SMHI; Sveriges meteorologiska och hydrologiska institut).

4.1 Santa Barbara Basin

The Santa Barbara Basin (Fig. 6), continental Southern California Borderland, USA, Eastern Pacific, is a shallow underwater plane of max. 627 m water depth. It is confined by the Santa Barbara coastline northwards, Channel Islands southwards, as well as two tectonic sills towards the open ocean in the East and West (475 m and 200 m water depth, respectively; Hülsemann & Emery, 1961). The sills restrict the exchange of deep basin waters with the open ocean. Water exchanges occur predominantly during spring, when waters of the California Current System (i.e., eastern boundary current of North Pacific) switch from a poleward to equatorward directionality (Harms & Winant, 1998; Huyer, 1983; Lynn & Simpson, 1987) and flush the basin through the western sill (e.g., Bograd et al., 2002; Reimers et al., 1990; Sholkovitz & Gieskes, 1971). Water renewal events are documented and exchange mechanisms discussed in detail by e.g., Bograd et al. (2002), Goericke et al. (2015), Harms & Winant (1998) and Reimers et al. (1990). Below sill level, dissolved oxygen concentrations decrease distinctly (to below 45 µmol/l; e.g., Bograd et al., 2002; Komada et al., 2016). Both, restricted water circulation and high oxygen consumption rates, promote the low-oxygen conditions (e.g., Emmer & Thunell, 2000; Kienast et al., 2002; Reimers et al., 1996; van Geen et al., 2003). Further, water masses introduced during water renewal events originate from the eastern North Pacific oxygen minimum zone, where oxygen concentrations are generally low with 18–45 µmol/l O₂ (e.g., Bograd et al., 2002; Helly & Levin, 2004; Reimers et al., 1990). The deep-basin waters of the Santa Barbara Basin are almost consistently characterised by $[O_2] < 3$ µmol/l (e.g., Bernhard et al., 1997, 2006a). Predicted reductions in frequencies and rates of water exchanges in the future may lead to permanently anoxic bottom-waters (Goericke et al., 2015).

Due to the low oxygen conditions, and consequently shallow oxygen penetration depth, pore-water Mn concentrations are low in surface sediments of the Santa Barbara Basin (Ivanochko & Pedersen, 2004; Reimers *et al.*, 1996). Manganese concentrations are comparable to such in sediments within or underlying oxygen minimum zones (< 20 μ mol/l Mn²⁺; e.g., Koho *et al.*, 2017; Law *et al.*, 2009; van der Weijden *et al.*, 1999), and significantly lower



Fig. 6a Geographical location and bathymetry of the Santa Barbara Basin. **6b** Evening view of the Santa Barbara Basin from R/V Robert Gordon Sproul (foto credit: Sha Ni).

than in sediments of estuarine settings (up to 500 μ mol/l Mn²⁺; e.g., Goldberg *et al.*, 2012; Sulu-Gambari *et al.*, 2017).

4.2 Gullmar Fjord, Havstens Fjord, Koljö Fjord

Gullmar-, Havstens- and Koljö Fjord (Fig. 7), Swedish west coast, are silled fjords whose hydrography is determined by influences of marine waters of the Skagerrak, brackish waters of the Baltic Sea and freshwaters deriving from the adjacent land (i.e., land runoff and river input). In Gullmar Fjord, freshwater is dominantly supplied by the river Örekilsälven (Fig. 7c). The fjords' water-columns are strongly salinity stratified, with halocline depths being governed by topography and particularly sill depth. Stratification and limited water exchanges with the open sea create conditions benefitting the development of (seasonal) bottom-water oxygen deficiency.

Water exchange events are largely determined by seasonal water circulation and wind patterns, associated with the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), which is the main factor of influence on Scandinavian climate (Chen & Hellström, 1999; Hurrell, 1995). Negative phases of the NAO-defined as the normalised sea-level pressure difference between the Azores islands (high) and Iceland (low)-favour upwelling and deep-water exchanges in the fjords (west- and eastward, respectively). Conversely, prolonged positive phases are associated with severe seasonal hypoxia (Filipsson & Nordberg, 2004a; Nordberg et al., 2000). Previous studies suggested not only a causal relationship between the NAO pattern and the frequency and intensity of water exchange events (Polovodova Asteman & Nordberg, 2013), but also the distribution of phytoplankton biomass and occurrences of blooming events (Belgrano et al., 1999; Lindahl et al., 1998). Both, restricted ventilation and increased primary production, with associated organic matter degradation rates, constitute oxygen sinks.

The first documentation of hypoxic bottom-waters in Gullmar Fjord dates back to February 1890 (Pettersson & Ekman, 1891), followed by more frequent hypoxic episodes during the 20th and early 21st century (e.g., Filipsson & Nordberg, 2004a; Polovodova Asteman & Nordberg, 2013) (Fig. 5b). Most recently hypoxic conditions persisted for several months in the end of 2017. Choquel *et al.* (2021) recorded non-detectable oxygen in bottom-waters in Nov. 2017. In Havstens Fjord low-oxygen conditions occur more frequently, and the bottom-waters of Koljö Fjord are almost permanently sub- or anoxic (e.g.,



Fig. 7a Compiled average bottom-water oxygen concentration in Gullmar Fjord (Alsbäck site) across a year, based on monitoring data from 1980 to 2014 (SMHI, 2022). **7b** Geographic location of the study area in the context of northern Europe (rectangle marks area of 7c). **7c** Location of the studied fjords on the west coast of Sweden. **7d** Evening view of Gullmar Fjord.

Gustafsson & Nordberg, 1999, 2000; Nordberg et al., 2001).

Foraminiferal studies of Gullmar Fjord date back as early as the end of the 19th Century, with Goës (1894) documenting for instance the occurrence of *Bulimina marginata*, one of the candidate species of this thesis. More recent assemblage assessments of the three fjords in focus here recorded communities of distinct diversity and composition each (e.g., Choquel *et al.*, 2021; Gustafsson & Nordberg, 1999, 2000, 2001), in adaptation to the respective conditions. The highest diversity and abundance were found in Gullmar Fjord, whereas sediments of the deep basin in Koljö Fjord typically only contain few specimens representing a single genus (*Elphidium*).

5 Methods

5.1 Field data collection

The four projects conducted within this thesis rely on the field collection of surface-sediment samples in a spatial and/or temporal sampling approach, in order to survey responses in modern foraminiferal geochemistry or communities to a range of environmental conditions.

Sediment cores were collected with an Ocean Instruments MC800 multicorer or GEMAX® twinbarrel corer (Oy Kart AB, Finland). This method of sampling allows the collection of cores of up to 70 cm length preserving the original sediment position and keeping the sediment-water interface undisturbed. Accordingly, sub-samples can be taken with confidence of their original positioning in the sediment column, and environmental conditions of surface-sediment pore-waters can be measured practically *in situ*.

Several replicate cores were taken—in multiple deployments in case of the twinbarrel corer—to provide sufficient material for the analytical purposes within the scope of the individual projects: (I) foraminiferal analyses (geochemistry, metabarcoding), (II) solid- and dissolved phase trace-element geochemistry, (III) recording of physicochemical parameters. As benthic foraminifera typically inhabit the first few cm of the sediment, and only currently living foraminifera were of interest to this project, the focus of all analyses lay on the top 1-2 cm of the sediment. Nevertheless, dissolved and solid trace-elemental profiles were collected down-core in some cases (Paul *et al.*, in prep.; Papers II–III). Environmental parameters—salinity, temperature, dissolved oxygen concentrations—of the water-column and bottom-waters at the time of sampling were recorded by CTDO₂, and allowed to assess, among others, the current state of the water exchange cycles in the study regions.

(I) To retrieve sediments for foraminiferal analyses core-tops were subsampled using a core-splitting device (top 1-2 cm in 0.5-1 cm intervals). Sediment samples intended for biogeochemistry were treated with CellHunt Green (CHG; Saterah Biotech, Oregon, USA) or Cell TrackerTM Green (CTG) with CMFDA (5-Chloromethylfluorescein Diacetate) and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), incubated and finally preserved by adding approximately the samples' volume ethanol-a method for the assessment of foraminifera viability (e.g., Bernhard et al., 2003, 2006b). Both, CHG and CTG, are compounds that are modified to be fluorescent by active hydrolytic enzymes in cells (i.e., non-specific esterases). As the involved enzymes degrade rapidly after cell death, the method is highly precise as live-dead assay. A bright green fluorescence in specimens during later observation under a fluorescence-stereomicroscope is interpreted as the specimens having been alive at the time of sampling (Fig. 8). 'Living' foraminifera of interest were wet-picked from the $>100 \mu m$ fraction of the sediment samples, and stored dried for further analyses. Sediment samples intended for analyses of environmental DNA were taken using sterile equipment, which was cleaned with ethanol after each use to avoid potential cross-contamination between samples. The material was stored in sterile plastic containers and kept frozen until proceeding to the next processing steps (i.e., DNA extraction, amplification, sequencing).

Fig. 8 Microscope view of CTG-labelled *Bulimina marginata* specimen under normal (left) and fluorescent (right) light.

(II) Samples for sediment geochemistry were acquired by sectioning, and for pore-water geochemical analyses by either sectioning and centrifuging, or using RhizonsTM (method described in Jokinen et al., 2020). Measuring of trace-element availability in solid and dissolved state in the environment of the studied foraminifera aids linking biogenic and environmental trace-element signals, and, thus, validating empirical geochemical proxy relationships. Under the assumption of trace-element concentrations during the time of sampling representing conditions ambient during foraminiferal chamber calcification, the distribution dynamics between pore-water and calcium carbonate of the trace element in question can be established by the following formula (i.e., partition coefficient; e.g., Henderson & Kracek, 1927; Morse & Bender, 1990):

$$D_{\rm Mn} = ({\rm Mn}/{\rm Ca})_{\rm foram}/({\rm Mn}/{\rm Ca})_{\rm pore-wat}$$

(III) Profiles of dissolved oxygen concentration and pH in bottom- and pore-waters were recorded at sub-millimetre resolution using clark-type micro-electrodes, connected to a motor and multi-meter (Unisense; Fig. 9). The measurements were performed directly in the sediment cores to a depth of up to 2 cm, within a temperature-controlled room set to in situ bottom-water conditions as inferred from CTDO, data. The oxygen penetration depth is of particular interest for the understanding of the Mn/Ca proxy relationship. The indirect coupling between bottom-water oxygenation and foraminiferal Mn/Ca is linked by the direct control of bottom-water oxygen availability on the penetration depth of oxygen into the sediment, in turn determining pore-water reduction-oxidation (redox) chemistry. On the other hand, pH is a factor of interest for its role in the sea-waters calcium carbonate saturation state (Zeebe & Wolf-Gladrow, 2001), which, if decreasing, may be detrimental to calcifying organisms such as foraminifera (e.g., Berkeley et al., 2007; Kroeker et al., 2010; Uthicke et al., 2013). Thus, pore-wa-



Fig. 9 Fotos showing set-up of micro-profiling equipment and sediment core in overview (left) and zoom-in showing the oxygen sensor and core-top (right).

ter pH should be considered when assessing changes in foraminiferal abundances.

5.2 Foraminifera species of special interest

<u>Nonionella stella (T6)</u>

Nonionella stella Cushman & Moyer, 1930 (Fig. 10a) is a typical morphospecies of the Santa Barbara Basin, representing one of the most abundant taxa there (e.g., Bernhard et al., 1997). It has been described to be cosmopolitan in distribution (Asteman & Schönfeld, 2016). However, molecular studies highlighted that several taxa, identified as N. stella by morphological criteria, are representing distinct phylotypes (Deldicq et al., 2019), necessitating re-evaluations of previous occurrence records. Nonionella stella is tolerant to hypoxia and anoxia, and used as indicator of such in the Santa Barbara Basin (e.g., Bernhard et al., 1997), but may also occur in well-oxygenated conditions (see Asteman & Schönfeld, 2016 and references therein). This tolerance is conceivably explained by the active use of kleptoplasts in trophic pathways proposed for N. stella (e.g., Bernhard & Bowser, 1999; Grzymski et al., 2002) and demonstrated by transcriptomics (Gomaa et al., 2021), possibly aiding inorganic nitrogen and sulfate assimilation (Grzymski et al., 2002). Kleptoplasty refers to the ability to ingest and maintain chloroplasts in 'husbandry' (see e.g., Bernhard, 2003; Bernhard & Bowser, 1999; Clark et al., 1990; Grzymski et al., 2002; Jauffrais et al., 2018). Further, other representatives of the same genus have been shown to use denitrification as alternative, anaerobic respiratory pathway (Piña-Ochoa et al., 2010; Risgaard-Petersen et al., 2006). The project of this thesis presents the first study exploring the species' trace-elemental composition (Paper I), but it has been used in isotope-based palaeoceanographic reconstructions previously (Altenbach et al., 2012; Kawahata, 2019).



Fig. 10 Scanning electron microscope images of benthic foraminifera species studied in this thesis. 10a Nonionella stella from the Santa Barbara Basin. 10b Nonionellina labradorica from Gullmar Fjord. 10c Bulimina marginata from Gullmar Fjord.

Nonionellina labradorica (T5)

Nonionellina labradorica (Dawson, 1960) (Fig. 10b) is a fully-marine, cold-temperature species common in sublittoral environments of the Arctic and North Atlantic. It has a deep infaunal in-sediment distribution, with an estimated average living depth of 4 cm (e.g., Alve & Bernhard, 1995; Corliss, 1991; Koho et al., 2017), although it is found shallower in Gullmar Fjord (c. 2 cm depth; Choquel et al., 2021). Generally, N. labradorica is common in Gullmar Fjord, although its abundance has been decreasing since the early 1980s (Filipsson & Nordberg, 2004b). As N. stella, N. labradorica was shown to harbour diatom-derived kleptoplasts in its cytoplasm (Jauffrais et al., 2019). Although initially the involvement of photosynthetic pathways has been suggested (Cedhagen, 1991), more recently this hypothesis was challenged and instead a possible role of the kleptoplasts in ammonium or sulfate assimilation proposed (Jauffrais et al., 2019). The species is frequently used as environmental indicator in palaeo-reconstructions (e.g., Perner et al., 2015; Seidenkrantz et al., 2013), and considered indicative of oxic conditions (e.g., Fontanier et al., 2014) and high organic matter availability (e.g., Corliss, 1991), as well as geochemical proxy for salinity and temperature (based on δ^{18} O, e.g., Shetye *et al.*, 2011; or Mg/Ca, e.g., Skirbekk et al., 2016).

<u>Bulimina marginata</u>

Bulimina marginata d'Orbigny, 1826 (Fig. 10c) is an open-marine benthic species that occurs in deepsea environments as well as on the continental shelf. Next to having a wide distribution, the species is easily cultured in laboratory conditions and there-

fore considered to be a good candidate for (trace-element-based) proxy calibrations (e.g., Barras et al., 2009, 2018; Bernhard et al., 2004; Havach et al., 2001; Hintz et al., 2006a, 2006b; McCorkle et al., 2008; Wit et al., 2012). Besides trace-element concentrations, also the distribution of trace elements in test walls of individual specimens have previously been investigated (van Dijk et al., 2019). Abundance of B. marginata is typically highest under well-oxygenated conditions, although the species does tolerate hypoxia and even anoxia (e.g., Alve, 2003; Alve & Bernhard, 1995; Bouchet et al., 2018; Ernst et al., 2005; Filipsson et al., 2010). Specifically, it has been observed to both reproduce (Alve & Bernhard, 1995) and calcify new chambers (Nardelli et al., 2014) under anoxic conditions.

5.3 Geochemical micro-analyses

Geochemical micro-analysis techniques enable high spatial resolution in situ measurements of trace-elements (and isotope compositions) in individual foraminifera specimens. The increased accessibility and use of micro-analytical techniques enabled important advances in the understanding of foraminiferal trace-element incorporation, as well as highlighted current short-comings in our knowledge of such mechanisms including the role of vital effects (e.g., de Nooijer et al., 2014a; Evans et al., 2018; Hathorne et al., 2009, 2018). In projects of this thesis, we made use of several micro-analytical techniques to infer trace-element ratios in individual chambers: (I) Laser-ablation Inductively Coupled Mass Spectrometry (LA-ICP-MS) and (II) Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry SIMS); and distributions across specimen cross-sections: (III) synchrotron-based X-ray Fluorescence (XRF). Further examples of such techniques, not used here, include Electron Microprobe, Electron Backscatter Diffraction, or Raman spectroscopy.

Micro-analytical methods-as opposed to traditional whole-shell and several-specimen analyses-are crucial when only a limited number of specimens is available and/or only specific test regions are of interest. For the investigation and calibration of foraminiferal trace-element proxies we were interested in chambers precipitated under specific conditions (i.e., in close temporal proximity to the conditions measured during sampling), as well as signals from a succession of chambers for assessing biogeochemical variability on a temporal scale. Further advantages of the used methods include the possibility of assessing chemical heterogeneity on an inter- and intra-specimen level (e.g., Glock et al., 2019; van Dijk et al., 2019), and identifying potential contaminations, such as coatings on the inner or outer wall surface or even within pore spaces (e.g., Ni et al., 2020; Pena et al., 2008). Finally, some micro-analytical methods are non- or less destructive, allowing analyses of fragile samples, or re-analysis for other purposes.

All here named techniques, except for LA-ICP-MS, require the embedding of samples in epoxy, and exposure of the areas of interest on the mount surface (i.e., foraminifera test cross-section). The quality of embedding can hamper the precision of analytical results significantly. To date no standardised embedding protocol has been published describing reliable embedding procedures for chambered micro-organisms such as foraminifera.

Epoxy embedding

The main challenge of embedding foraminifera is the filling of the specimens' chamber cavities, as epoxy is viscous, the chambers typically air-filled after being stored dry, and the only opening in tests through which epoxy can penetrate efficiently the aperture. Complete filling of tests is, however, crucial to achieve a smooth sample surface when exposing the specimens to cross-section for analyses (particularly important for SIMS), to avoid breakage of chamber walls during polishing and the adherence of contamination in unfilled (micro-)spaces.

We developed a step-wise embedding protocol, which achieves complete filling of foraminifera chambers. Two essential components of this procedure are (I) the pre-treatment of tests to remove dried cell material on the inside of chambers, and

(II) a step-wise filling of specimens by epoxy of increasing viscosity.

In specimens sampled living, the removal of cell material is essential as it can hinder the successful distribution of epoxy throughout the chamber cavities. Furthermore, the influence trace elemental signals deriving from organic material on the measurements can be avoided. For our 'live' specimens we chose bleaching with 5% NaOCl (e.g., Lea et al., 1999; Mashiotta et al., 1999). Subsequently we submerged the tests in acetone, and used vacuum treatment to drive out the air within chambers and aid the replacement with the solvent. The acetone is then replaced by an epoxy-acetone mixture in two steps (ratios 1:2 and 2:1, respectively), and finally by pure epoxy. Mixing acetone with epoxy serves the purpose of decreasing the liquid's viscosity to a degree that facilitates penetration into foraminiferal tests. The advantages of using acetone as a solvent are its dehydration capabilities (water hinders the polymerization of epoxy resin), and it lowering the epoxies' viscosity without being detrimental to its chemical structure (if removed prior to curing; Loos et al., 2008). Finally, the epoxy-filled specimens can be fully embedded in a mold fitting the machines' specifications planned to be used for analyses. A comparison of embedding results without and with these two steps is shown in Fig. 11, highlighting the improved filling capacity and reduction in sample surface relief.



Fig. 11 SEM images of two specimens of *Nonionella stella* in cross-section, embedded in epoxy without (left) and with (right) prior bleaching and step-wise filling procedure.

Laser-ablation Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry

Laser-ablation Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry is nowadays a standard technique for measuring trace-element ratios in foraminifera. Briefly, a short-pulsed high-power laser beam is focused on a sample region of interest (e.g., chamber wall), ablating sample material and transforming it into an aerosol, which is transported from the airtight sampling chamber through a transport line to the ICP-MS detector, where the elemental composition is measured. Several trace elements can be measured simultaneously. Quantification relies on reference material analysed under the same conditions as the sample itself.

Measurements are acquired by ablating chamber walls from the outside to the inside, providing a 2D signal with the possibility of excluding specific profile segments during data processing (i.e., contamination-associated signal parts; e.g., Guo *et al.*, 2019; Koho *et al.*, 2017). Laser-ablation is a destructive process, leaving a hole in the targeted chamber wall, or, in some cases, causing the entire chamber to break. Hence, re-analysis of the same chamber is not possible.

Samples require minimal preparation, as only fixing on a flat surface fitting into the sample chamber is technically required for analyses. Furthermore, LA-ICP-MS systems are widely available and accessible, and analysis costs are comparatively low. This method was used for the majority of our trace-elemental analyses (Papers II–III).

Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry

Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry is an alternate method for measuring element compositions of calcite tests (e.g., Allison & Austin, 2003; Bice et al., 2005; Glock et al., 2012; Glock et al., 2016; Livsey et al., 2020; McKay et al., 2015; Sano et al., 2005). Briefly, a focused primary ion beam is directed onto the surface of a sample mount, transforming the targeted material into secondary ions. For measuring ions of positive charges, such as Mn, Mg or Sr, a negative primary beam from a 16O- source ("duo-plasmatron") is used. The secondary ions are extracted by applying voltage in an electrostatic analyser or mass filter, magnetically separated by their mass and eventually introduced into an ion counting system (mono- or multicollector). Changing the source to one of positive charge enables the measurement of stable isotope compositions, such as oxygen or carbon (e.g., Balestra et al., 2020; Kasemann et al., 2009; Kozdon et al., 2013; Livsey et al., 2020)-a distinct advantage of SIMS compared to other micro-analytical techniques. Individual elements (or isotopes) of interest are measured in succession. Like for LA-ICP-MS, reference material is needed to quantify the geochemical signals.

Compared to LA-ICP-MS, SIMS is less frequently used for trace-element analyses of foraminifera, being a more complex system, costly in acquisition, maintenance, and operation, and time-consuming in use, both pre- and during analyses. One time-consuming but important aspect is the need for epoxy-embedding the samples, as SIMS analyses require a smooth and even samples surface (< 100 nm roughness) in order to reach high precision in the measurement of element concentrations, as well as avoid distortion, shadowing or charging (e.g., Kita *et al.*, 2009). As parts of our sample material was very fragile and not able to withstand the ablation by laser long enough to produce a quantifiable signal (i.e., *N. stella*; Paper I), epoxy-embedding for structural support and analyses by SIMS were a good alternative. To guide analyses, scanning electron microscope imaging (SEM) of the to-be-investigated specimens is essential.

Synchrotron-based X-ray Fluorescence mapping

Synchrotron-based XRF analyses are a state-of-theart technique in foraminiferal geochemical analyses, allowing the micro- and nano-scale mapping of trace-element concentrations (e.g., De Giudici et al., 2018; Munsel et al., 2010; Ni et al., 2020; van Dijk et al., 2019). It is an imaging technique based on X-ray excitation and fluorescence emission of elements. The relative intensity ratios can be converted to semi-quantitative concentration ratios (percentage mass and molar mass) by taking the measurement geometry, the XRF yields and detection efficiencies of the XRF spectral lines into account (Jenkins, 1995). Samples require embedding in mounts, and polishing to cross-section. Elemental concentrations and distributions are mapped on the mount surface with several tens of µm information depth.

We used synchrotron-light based XRF to investigate biomineralization patterns in foraminifera, by imaging the micro- and nano-scale distribution of Mn in foraminiferal chamber walls (Paper I and II). The method allows inferences on the co-location of trace-elements, important for the understanding of trace element incorporation by foraminifera. For instance, one of the assumptions trace-element-based proxies rely on is the active incorporation of elements of interest in the calcite lattice, as opposed to the adsorption and secondary precipitation in distinct phases on the test surfaces. In Fig. 12 the co-localisation of Mn within the high-Ca intensity area, representing the foraminiferal chamber wall, is highlighted. Further, information of elemental distribution patterns can be drawn (e.g., heterogeneity, banding), which may shed light on biomineralization processes and/or environmental variability throughout the growth of tests.



Fig. 12 Exemplary profile selection from XRF maps. **12a–b** XRF 'zoom-in' maps of chamber wall portions showing distribution of Ca (a) and Mn (b). **12c** Plotted intensity profiles of Ca (straight line) and Mn (dashed line) along selected profile (indicated by vertical white line in a and b).

5.4 Molecular techniques: Metabarcoding and barcoding

Metabarcoding is a molecular tool for the assessment of communities based on amplification and high-throughput sequencing of DNA in mixed samples, followed by bioinformatic data processing. Taxonomically informative DNA barcodes are used for the identification of sequences; for foraminifera these are fragments of the hypervariable region of the small subunit (SSU) rDNA, which is known to have rapidly evolving ribosomal genes (e.g., Cordier *et al.*, 2019; Pawlowski & Lecroq, 2010; Thakur *et al.*, 2022).

We extracted the total DNA of our sediment samples with two different extraction kits, respectively, using manufacturer's instructions: DNeasy Power-Max Soil Kit (Qiagen) and NucleoSpin Soil Minikit (Macheret Nagel). Currently several commercial kits for the extraction of DNA from sediment and soil samples are available, utilizing a variety of sediment volumes (0.25-10 g) and presenting different material and chemical properties (review by Lear et al., 2018). It is well established that extraction kit type can affect quantity and quality of extracted DNA, as well as inferred alpha- and beta diversity (e.g., Carrigg et al., 2007; Hestetun et al., 2021; Pearman et al., 2020). However, to date extraction kit use has not been standardised (Pawlowski et al., 2022), and is often guided by availability and/or costs. In all commercial kits, extraction comprises the following general steps: sample homogenisation (chemical and/or physical), cell lysis, inhibitor removal, DNA binding and washing, elution. The success of the extraction process, indicated by nucleic acid concentrations, can be tested by NanoDrop microvolume spectrophotometry.

Environmental DNA refers to the total DNA pool found in the environment, deriving from whole individuals (if specimen size is small or sample volume large) and extracellular DNA, of living and potentially (recently) dead organisms (Corinaldesi et al., 2018). Still, specific organisms can be targeted using primers during the DNA amplification step. Here we used the foraminifera-specific primers s14F1 (AAG-GGCACCACAAGAACGC; Pawlowski, 2000) and s15r (CCACCTATCACAYAATCATG; Lejzerowicz et al., 2014). Amplification results were tested by gel electrophoresis. Following the first, the second amplification, library constructions and Illumina MiSeq sequencing were performed externally at the ANAN platform (SFR QUASAV, INRAE Beaucouzé, France), which delivered demultiplexed, paired-end sequencing data.

Data derived from high-throughput sequencing requires stringent processing with bioinformatical tools: Reads were trimmed to remove forward and reverse primers, and following processed following the 'dada2' protocol (adapted from https:// benjineb.github.io/dada2/tutorial.html). This pipeline comprises the filtering of reads for length and quality, denoising by merging paired reads, construction of a sequence table clustering variants, and removal of chimeras. It delivers a sequence table of so called 'amplicon sequence variants' (ASV), which present a reliable and comprehensive representation of biological variation of single DNA sequences, albeit not necessarily corresponding to species (e.g., Callahan et al., 2017; Eren et al., 2013). The ASVs were taxonomically assigned using VSEARCH v. 2.18.0 (Rognes et al., 2016) and a partially self-generated reference database (courtesy of David Singer and Magali Schweizer) comprising sequences of specimens collected from the studied fjords and other regions, as well as barcodes from GenBank. As molecular- and morphological species concepts do differ (e.g., review by Pawlowski *et al.*, 2014), we verified taxonomic assignment of each ASV manually by sequence alignment and comparisons with reference databases. The reads of ASVs that could be confidently assigned to the same taxon were pooled.

Reference databases comprise sequences acquired by barcoding, which refers to the taxonomic identification of species by sequencing of diagnostic markers in individual specimens (Hebert *et al.*, 2003). The pool of published reference sequences for the taxonomic identification of foraminiferal DNA is growing, albeit still lacking behind those available for animals, plants and fungi (Pawlowski & Holzmann, 2014). Ideally, single-cell barcoding is combined with morphological characterisations (such as image documentation and/or descriptions) of the species, in an effort to ultimately unite morphological and molecular species concepts. (e.g., Bird *et al.*, 2020; Pawlowski & Holzmann, 2014; Schweizer *et al.*, 2005).

6. Summary of Papers: Results

My thesis comprises four papers, summarised below and appended later. The distribution of work contributing towards each paper is given in Table 1 (positioned after the concluding section).

Paper I

Foraminiferal Mn/Ca as Bottom-Water Hypoxia Proxy: An Assessment of *Nonionella stella* in the Santa Barbara Basin, USA.

Brinkmann, I., Ni, S., Schweizer, M., Oldham, V. E., Quintana Krupinski, N. B., Medjoubi, K., Somogyi, A., Whitehouse, M. J., Hansel, C. M., Barras, C., Bernhard, J. M., & Filipsson, H. L. (2021) Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology, 36, e2020PA004167.

This paper presents a comprehensive in-field investigation of Mn incorporation by foraminifera under low-oxygen conditions, on the example of the low-oxygen tolerant species *N. stella*. Three suboxic (bottom-water oxygen concentrations < 10 μ mol/l) sites within the Santa Barbara Basin, USA, were studied to explore the relationship between foraminiferal Mn/Ca and bottom-water oxygenation at the lower end of 'low-oxygen' conditions.

Foraminiferal Mn/Ca was measured by SIMS in a micro-analytical approach focusing on the most recently formed chambers of *N. stella* specimens, and ambient geochemical conditions were constrained by measurements of bottom- and pore-water Mn concentrations. The analysis was complemented with synchrotron-based XRF nano-imaging of the distribution of Mn and Ca in *N. stella* specimens (Fig. 13).

Our results confirmed that the trend between bottom-water oxygenation and foraminiferal Mn/Ca is of opposite directionality under dominantly suboxic vs. hypoxic conditions (< 10 μ mol/l and < 60μ mol/l [O₂], respectively), making an understanding of oxygenation and sedimentary Mn redox regime essential. While we could show that *N. stella* incorporated Mn directly into its calcium-carbonate chamber walls, incorporation was low and heterogeneous, suggesting restricted proxy potential for this species. Regardless of investigated species, reliable interpretations of proxy-signals with respect to environmental variability will require the consideration of uncertainties pertaining to trace-element responses on intra- and inter-specimen level in foraminifera.

Lastly, the study entailed a taxonomic part, in which the studied species' affinity was molecularly (DNA barcoding) and morphologically (SEM imaging) validated and its phylogenetic position within the nonionids established. We defined a new phylotype "T6" for *N. stella* from the Santa Barbara Basin, confirming its distinct status from genetically close specimens from Namibia (Deldicq *et al.*, 2019).



Fig. 13 Two specimens of the benthic foraminifer *Nonionella stella* from the Santa Barbara Basin imaged by scanning electron microscope (entire test; left) and X-ray fluorescence (calcium distribution in test cross-section; right). XRF photo credit: Dr. Andrea Somogyi.

Paper II

Benthic foraminiferal Mn/Ca as low-oxygen proxy in fjord sediments.

Brinkmann, I., Barras, C., Jilbert, T., Paul, K. M., Somogyi, A., Ni, S., Schweizer, M., Bernhard, J. M., & Filipsson, H. L. (manuscript)

In this contribution we continue the investigation of the foraminiferal Mn/Ca proxy for bottom-water oxygenation conditions, now focussing on Mn/Ca responses to a wide gradient of oxygen concentrations, ranging from low- to well-oxygenated, in a setting characterised by high Mn availability (Gullmar Fjord, Sweden).

We approach this following the concept of the previous study, utilising a two-fold micro-analytical approach to acquire data on trace-element concentrations and distribution in foraminiferal tests (here: LA-ICP-MS and XRF), and documenting ambient environmental conditions at the time of sampling (here: bottom- and pore-water oxygen, bottom- and pore-water dissolved Mn, sedimentary Mn concentrations).

Our results highlight the potential of the foraminiferal Mn/Ca proxy, however, only under low to moderate oxygen availability (approx. < 130 μ mol/l O₂). The data indicate that the correlation curve likely flattens at well-oxygenated conditions, and this may be universal to Mn/Ca from coastal settings on a global scale. Accordingly, and in complement to our first study, we propose that the proxy possesses both a lower and upper oxygen limit of utility.

The response of foraminiferal Mn/Ca to ambient [Mn] and $[O_2]$ was specific to the two investigated species, *B. marginata* and *N. labradorica*, with only the former showing proxy potential. For the selection of proxy candidate species, the biogeochemical effects of kleptoplasts, denitrification and formation of cysts require further attention. In proxy applications, it is imperative to consider a species' life-style, such as micro-habitat preferences and reproduction timing, in order to constrain uncertainties of biological origin in Mn/Ca signals.

Paper III

Drought recorded by Ba/Ca in coastal benthic foraminifera.

Brinkmann, I., Barras, C., Jilbert, T., Næraa, T., Paul, K. M., Schweizer, M., & Filipsson, H. L. (2022) Biogeosciences, 19, 2523–2535.

In this study we investigated modern benthic foraminiferal barium incorporation in response to opposing continental hydroclimate conditions, adding a new coastal marine proxy to the toolbox for reconstructing past drought events. Foraminiferal Ba/ Ca data derived from the LA-ICP-MS analyses carried out for the project of Paper II, and covered the year 2018, characterised by exceptionally hot and dry conditions across Northern and Central Europe, as well as the following wet and warm year 2019.

We found that prolonged drought imprints with exceptionally low Ba/Ca in coastal benthic foraminifera. This resulted in a record of strongly contrasting Ba/Ca between 2018 and 2019 in direct relation to runoff and discharge conditions. By using extensive meteorological and hydrological data sets, as well as sediment- and pore-water geochemical profiles, we could link physical and chemical processes across the continent-sea transition zone. Resting upon these observations we propose a concept for Ba transport and cycling in the fjord's water and sediment, explaining availability to foraminifera.

Limitations of the proposed proxy pertain to both environmental Ba availability—a function of distance to terrestrial Ba source, water depth and pore-water geochemical regime—, and foraminiferal Ba incorporation—a function of a species' micro-habitat and/or ontogenetic stage. Hence, these factors require consideration in (palaeo)applications.

This study offers new perspectives on the interpretation of benthic Ba/Ca, as well as implications for barium proxy applications in palaeo-studies of near-continent sediment records.

Paper IV

Through the eDNA looking glass: Responses of fjord benthic foraminiferal communities to contrasting environmental conditions.

Brinkmann, I., Schweizer, M., Singer, D., Quinchard, S., Barras, C., Bernhard, J. M., & Filipsson, H. L. (manuscript in review at The Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology)

This study explores the metabarcoding approach for identifying foraminiferal biodiversity and assemblage changes across environmental gradients. The material comprised sediment sampled on a temporal scale from several sites in the interconnected fjord system of Gullmar, Havstens and Koljö Fjord, Sweden, as well as foraminifera specimens from the study area. The latter served the construction of a taxonomic reference database of local species by single-cell barcoding and image documentation, paramount to the identification of sequences derived from metabarcoding.

We focused both on methodological aspects—comparing the output of two commercial DNA extraction kits of different sample volume—and the capacity of foraminiferal eDNA as bioindicator tool.

The DNA extraction procedure significantly influenced metabarcoding outputs with respect to both diversity and species composition, with indications of only one of the extract types representing present foraminiferal diversity reliably. In those extracts, foraminiferal communities were specific to settings contrasting strongly in their environmental conditions (e.g., brackish vs. fully-marine salinity), matching prior morphological assessments of the study areas' foraminiferal assemblages. Sensitivity to environmental factors variable on shorter scales (i.e., sub-annual), on the other hand, was damped on community level, and correlations of individual taxon abundance with various environmental parameters could not be confirmed by known species ecology.

Our work showcases current abilities and limitations of molecular techniques for tracing microbial biodiversity changes and species abundance, and advocate for homogeneity in the DNA extraction procedure within and between studies.

7 Discussion and perspectives

7.1 Inferences facilitated by in-field investigations for the calibration of proxies

The focal point of my thesis was the development of benthic foraminifera-based indicators for a variety of environmental conditions in a field-sampling approach. The investigations focused on the one hand on biogeochemical signals derived from several high-resolution micro-analytical approaches, and assemblage trends using a metabarcoding approach. The outcomes highlighted both opportunities and pitfalls of field-based calibration attempts, and can serve as reference for future studies devoted to refinements of the here dealt with proxies, as well as other trace-elemental proxies.

Generally, calibrations can be set up either as laboratory experiments or field-studies. The main advantage of laboratory studies is that all chemical and physical parameters involved in the experimental environment can be externally controlled. Hence, eliminating uncertainties introduced by environmental and/or geochemical interactions. This is especially valuable for inferences of direct relationships describing a proxy, such as trace-element partition coefficients (e.g., Barras et al., 2018; Munsel et al., 2010), or the relationship between DNA sequence abundance and specimen biomass (e.g., Lacoursière-Roussel et al., 2016). Indeed, in all of our studies on geochemistry-based proxies (Papers I-III) it proved difficult to link environmental chemical and biogenic signals directly. Specifically, foraminiferal TE/Ca did not correlate positively with ambient availability in pore-waters (which we measured at the time of sampling), for either Mn/Ca or Ba/Ca. This contrasts the foraminiferal incorporation of trace-elements being proportional to ambient availability, as has been shown in laboratory studies for both Mn and Ba (e.g., Barras et al., 2018; de Nooijer et al., 2017). Generally, the extent to which relationships established under laboratory conditions can be extrapolated to natural environments and interactions are questionable, and in principle call for fieldbased validations of empirical relations. Despite the lacking direct correlations, in our field-studies the overall proxy relationships did work as expected-at least for some species and conditions. Accordingly,

the underlying lab-supported assumptions imperative for the functioning of the proxy relations must have been given. We therefore inferred that our pore-water measurements did not reflect accurately on the trace-element availability during foraminiferal test precipitation, due to insufficient spatial and/ or temporal resolution (Paper I-III). Such may be improved in future geochemical proxy calibration studies, such as by extended sampling efforts and/or use of analytical methods allowing for higher resolution measurements of pore-water and sedimentary geochemistry. Nevertheless, our records of solid and dissolved trace-element concentrations did aid reconstructing potential trace-elemental pathways and cycling of the studied environment (specifically transport and fluxes of Ba; Paper III), and reinforced the relevance of in-field proxy calibration studies.

Complex associations, as between terrestrial trace-element input and water-column transport to the sediment, or individual- and community-level behaviour of foraminiferal assemblages in response to natural environmental variability, are difficult to re-create in experimental setups. Here our field-sampling approach and associated findings could make important contributions, in particular with regards to the environment-specific utility of proxies and proxy sensitivity limits under natural conditions. The implications of these are briefly discussed below.

Fjords as field-laboratories

The utility of trace-elemental proxies being specific to the environment they are applied to is well established, particularly over large gradients such as comparing open-ocean versus coastal settings. For instance, biogenic Ba signals reflect on (palaeo-)productivity of the overlying water-column and surface waters in open ocean settings but are controlled by terrestrial input and estuarine mixing processes in coastal environments (see discussion in Paper III). Hence, consideration of regional environmental factors is important both in the development of proxies, as well as the interpretation of proxy signals in applications.

Based on our investigations of Gullmar Fjord, we infer that fjords present settings of high potential for the calibration of proxies, particularly such based on relationships relating directly or indirectly to redox cycling such as Mn/Ca and Ba/Ca. In the specific cases dealt with in my thesis, the fjord setting proofed ideal particularly due to its transitional position at the land-sea interface, facilitating significant inputs of terrestrial-derived trace elements (and associated high availability for foraminiferal incorporation), and the seasonal oxygenation cycle driving active redox cycling in surface sediments. Specifically, proxy signals derived from samples of the deep basin located in the inner Gullmar Fjord captured geochemical and associated environmental variability with high sensitivity (Papers II, III). It is typical for fjords, albeit not universal, to exhibit greatest depths in the inner (land-ward) part (e.g., Sars, 1872). There, sediment accumulation rates are highest (also in comparison to the open shelf and deep-sea), and sediment records span far back in time (e.g., Howe *et al.*, 2010). Hence, it is sensible to focus both continued calibration efforts and following applications on the deep basin of fjords.

Both Mn/Ca and Ba/Ca proxies deal with the indication of environmental and/or climate factors that are very timely—the decline of oxygen in coastal marine environments (e.g., Breitburg *et al.*, 2018) and the increase of drought and heatwaves (e.g., Bastos *et al.*, 2020). Thus, settings that can provide sensitive, high-resolution records of past developments of these variables are of high interest. Having been recently defined as 'Aquatic Critical Zones', this is particularly true for fjords (Bianchi *et al.*, 2020). Palaeo-reconstructions could put ongoing physical and chemical changes of fjords and the adjacent continent into a historical perspective and aid the plea for investigative efforts of these vulnerable systems.

From a practical point of view, also the relatively high accessibility for sample acquisitions is an advantage of fjords as study regions-particularly when compared to offshore areas. Fjord foraminiferal assemblages have been shown to often comprise deep-sea species occurring in shallower depths than their typical ranges in open ocean settings (bathyal to abyssal depths) (e.g., Alve et al., 2011; Buhl-Mortensen & Buhl-Mortensen, 2014). With the deep basin often being stagnant in its environmental conditions (e.g., temperature, salinity) and generally not affected by short-term meteorological changes such as coastal waters, it in many ways mimics deep-sea conditions, facilitating its use as 'inland deep sea' laboratory (Buhl-Mortensen et al., 2020). Besides that, the variety of habitats along a fjord's depth gradient, as well as contrasting influences of environmental conditions from land, sea and atmosphere, support the study of a diverse range of environmental and ecological research questions (for reviews see e.g., Brattegard, 1980; Howe et al., 2010).

Scope of the Mn/Ca proxy for bottom-water oxygenation

Proxy relationships do not necessarily have a universal sensitivity independent of the range of physical and chemical factor of interest. For example, the Mg/Ca palaeothermometer loses its sensitivity at cold temperatures, as the exponential correlation curves flattens (e.g., Lear et al., 2002). Similarly, our and previous field-calibration attempts of the Mn/ Ca-oxygenation proxy revealed Mn/Ca trends indicating that, once established, a correlation curve will likely flatten at well-oxygenated conditions (Paper II; Guo et al., 2019). The data from the Yangtze River Estuary indicated a potential maximum of 3-4 mg/l O₂ (approx. 94–125 µmol/l), which matched our observations in Gullmar Fjord, although studies measuring Mn/Ca precipitated under a gradient of oxygen concentration in higher resolution (i.e., concentration steps) will be necessary to define an exact limit. Similarly, such studies may have success in quantifying the relationship between Mn/Ca and oxygen concentrations under low-oxygen conditions. While the empirical, direct relationship between ambient Mn availability and biogenic incorporation has been shown to cover a wide gradient of Mn concentrations in linear correlation (e.g., 2.4-595 µmol/l Mn in Barras et al., 2018), in practice the proxy is limited by the in-sediment positioning of the Mn redox-cline and foraminiferal in-sediment depth distribution (e.g., Koho et al., 2017). As bottom-water oxygen concentrations increase, allowing oxygen to penetrate deeply into the sediment, microbes will default to anaerobic respiration pathways, including reduction of Mn, only beyond the main micro-habitat of foraminifera. Accordingly, deep-infaunal foraminifera may show a wider sensitivity range even at higher bottom-water oxygenation than shallow or epifaunal taxa-if their depth-distribution is not coupled to the oxic-anoxic boundary and thus shifts with the redox-cline. However, we could not proof the latter with the deep-infaunal species investigated in this thesis (i.e., Nonionellina labradorica). Conceivable could also be the use of Mn/Ca signals of foraminifera of different depth habitats specifically, following the approach of the 'interspecies δ^{13} C gradient' suggested by Hoogakker et al. (2015). These authors proposed that the difference in normalised carbon isotope signal between epifaunal (Cibicidoides wuellerstorfi (Schwager, 1866)) and deep-infaunal foraminifera (Globobulimina affinis (d'Orbigny, 1839), living at the dysoxic/anoxic boundary) represents the same isotope gradient between pore- and bottom-waters across the anoxic boundary (i.e., oxygen penetration depth). In turn, this gradient is guided by bottom-water oxygen concentrations and, thus,

can be used as proxy of such. Theoretically, such a concept can circumvent uncertainties associated with regional trace element availability and redox regimes, as the values are normalised. However, the utility is governed by the same limitations as the Mn/Ca proxy itself: at well-oxygenated conditions the signal of foraminifera from both shallow and deep micro-habitats will converge, and the same is true for suboxic states.

A second mechanism limiting the Mn/Ca proxy utility range is the diffusive loss of Mn to the water column under oxygen-depleted conditions in bottom-waters. This was previously highlighted by Glock et al. (2012) in studies of foraminiferal Mn/Ca from the Peruvian oxygen minimum zone, and confirmed by the Mn/Ca trends of our samples from the Santa Barbara Basin (Paper I). As this phenomenon causes low pore-water Mn availability, equivalent to under well oxygenated conditions, independent proxies are necessary to put Mn/Ca signals into perspective and allow a correct interpretation of observed Mn/Ca shifts. Even rough assessments of the foraminiferal assemblage may be sufficient, focussing on the presence or absence of indicator species of well- and low-oxygenated conditions, respectively.

Finally, it is noteworthy that our studies were based on 'clean' Mn/Ca signals of the primary calcium-carbonate in foraminifera tests. The presence of Mn diagenetic overgrowths on the out- and inside of foraminiferal tests, as common in fossil material, can limit the proxy's information value for bottom-water oxygen conditions (e.g., Edgar et al., 2013; Hasenfratz et al., 2017; Ni et al., 2020). The influence of such should, therefore, be considered in palaeo-applications, particularly if using bulk-analysis techniques.

7.2 Biological uncertainties of biogeochemical proxies and implications for palaeo-applications

In foraminiferal geochemical proxies, substantial uncertainty still surrounds how and to what degree intrinsic (i.e., between and within individuals) and extrinsic (i.e., environmental) processes affect the incorporation of trace elements into test walls. This uncertainty narrows the application of proxies to species for which biomineralization processes and lifestyle parameters potentially influencing trace-elemental signals can be constrained. Further, it can limit the quantification of (palaeo-)proxy signals especially when few data points are available, as individual-level differences cannot be distinguished from environmental drivers. One example of intrinsic effects with direct control on trace-elemental incorporation are ontogenetic trends, most often explained by changing calcium-carbonate precipitation rates and associated ability to discriminate against specific trace elements during foraminifers' growth (e.g., Diz et al., 2012; Elderfield et al., 2002). Examples of intrinsic effects indirectly causing variable trace element uptake are micro-habitat-specific trace-element availability. For instance, in-sediment depth preferences may expose respective species to different geochemical gradients, for example documented by the TROXCHEM³ model by Koho et al. (2015) (see also e.g., Koho et al., 2017; Ní Fhlaithearta et al., 2018). Alternatively, the geochemistry of a foraminifer's calcification micro-habitat may be biologically altered, such as by the aggregation of organic matter (in planktonic species e.g., Fehrenbacher et al., 2018). Interpretations of palaeo trace-elemental signals, therefore, relies heavily on a thorough understanding of biology and ecology of foraminifera.

Albeit not having investigated biomineralization processes directly or from a mechanistic viewpoint, our observations of foraminiferal trace-element incorporation through time (i.e., comparing successively precipitated chambers) and space (i.e., different environmental settings, specimen in-sediment depth) provided important insights into potential biological contributions to proxy signals. The most distinct observations comprise, on the one hand, changing trace-element concentrations through successively precipitated chambers, and, on the other hand, significantly different signals between the investigated species. To explain these patterns, we proposed the influence of potential ontogeny-driven lifestyle changes, micro-habitat preferences, as well as a variety of biological mechanisms conceivably modifying geochemical conditions in the foraminifers' (micro-) environment (Papers I-III). All of these processes describe a bio-environmental regulation of foraminiferal TE/Ca that acts independently of the proxy-environment relationship.

Our comparisons of different benthic species highlighted that established calibrations should not be transferred between taxa, and the need for careful considerations of biological uncertainties when deciding on candidate proxy species.

Proxy potential of Bulimina marginata

In both of our studies dealing with the development of trace-elemental proxies based on *B. marginata* in Gullmar Fjord (Papers II–III), this species stood out for its potential to indicate the variables in question (i.e., Mn/Ca for bottom-water oxygenation and Ba/ Ca for hydroclimate conditions). Generally, representatives of Bulimina are considered as reliable environmental indicators based on a variety of TE/Ca, such as Mg/Ca for palaeotemperature reconstructions (e.g., Grunert et al., 2018). Nevertheless, inter-individual variability due to vital effects have been highlighted (e.g., for Mg/Ca in Wit et al., 2012). Similarly, our studies gave insights into intrinsic trace-element variability, both on intra- and inter-specimen level. Most notably, we documented elevated signals and abrupt differences in trace-element ratios between proloculus and initial chambers versus successive 'adult' chambers (Papers II-III), which led to the development of several hypotheses explaining this contrast. These include growth spanning a sequence of oxygen-deficiency to well-oxygenated conditions (going from high to low pore-water Mn availability), and the potential biological regulation of TE/Ca (in detail discussed in Paper II, with regards to Mn).

However, proxy signals of ambient environmental conditions were not overprinted by these intrinsic effects. In the case of Ba/Ca a distinct shift in ratios from 'dry' to 'wet' weather situations was noted even in measurements from solely the proloculus area, as well as when averaging over all measured chambers, despite proloculus signals ranging significantly higher than those of the more recently precipitated chambers. This implies that even bulk-analysis techniques pooling entire (and several) specimens likely will provide reliable proxy signals. The proloculus area constitutes a relatively small percentage of the calcium-carbonate material, compared to the entire test, particularly in adult specimens. Furthermore, the primary wall of the proloculus is secondarily covered by additional calcium-carbonate layers with each chamber addition. Hence, the proloculus contributes to a minor degree to the overall 'entire-specimen' TE/Ca. A complete mechanistic understanding of the biological trends is, therefore, not a strict requirement for the application of B. marginata-based trace-element proxies for palaeo-reconstructions, albeit desirable.

Our investigations clearly benefitted from the XRF trace-element mapping across entire specimens' cross-sections, particularly with regards to allowing more thorough considerations of mechanistic factors of influence (Paper II). However, comparable observations could be made by individual-chamber analyses using more widely available and easily accessible instruments, such as LA-ICP MS (Papers II–III) or SIMS. Theoretically, although time-intensive, even bulk techniques could be an option when

separating either young and old specimens, or breaking individual tests, and measuring both fractions separately.

Proxy potential of Nonionella stella **and** Nonionellina labradorica

In contrast to *B. marginata*, both nonionids showed little potential as candidates for the here tested proxies and investigated settings, albeit for different reasons respectively.

Nonionella stella is not recommendable as trace-elemental proxy mainly for practical purposes. Due to its test fragility, time-intensive sample preparation was needed to allow micro-analytical measurements of trace-elemental signals (by SIMS; Paper I). While SIMS analyses theoretically allow for isotopic measurements as well, such in this case prevented by the thinness of the species' test walls (pers. comm. Martin Whitehouse). Bulk-analyses are conceivable, but samples comprising of many specimens would be required to reach the technically required weight limit. Hence, the use of this species as geochemical proxy would be limited to samples with high abundances, rare in particular in palaeo-applications. However, test fragility may be a factor of the ambient environmental conditions and, thus, the use of N. stella—or related, morphologically similar species such as Nonionella sp. T1-may be relevant in different setting than studied here.

Conversely, N. labradorica presents properties beneficial to geochemical studies, producing tests (and chamber walls) of comparatively large size, that can easily withstand laser-ablation and thereby provide long and stable measurement signals. The species' Mg/Ca signals have been proposed to be useful for relative or even semi-quantitative inferences of temperatures (Barrientos et al., 2018). However, its Ba and Mn uptake, as investigated in my thesis, appeared to be not controlled solely or dominantly by environmental availability and we consider the proxy calibration attempts as unsuccessful. Nevertheless, our findings highlighted several biogeochemical features of this species that should be followed-up on in future explorations. Specifically, investigations of potential biogeochemical pathways contributing to the apparent insensitivity of N. labradoricas' Ba/Ca and Mn/Ca to ambient trace-element availability have the potential to make important contributions to the understanding of foraminiferal biology. In Paper II we proposed and discussed the influence of denitrification (albeit so far only shown for other nonionids), kleptoplasty and cyst formation as conceivable factors determining the elevated Mn/Ca signals of this species, whereas micro-habitat distribution was the most conclusive explanation of the lacking response to hydroclimate-driven Ba availability changes (Paper III). High-resolution, *in situ* geochemical studies of *N. labradorica* are a conceivable research pathway that may shed light on the potential biogenic alterations of sedimentary or pore-water trace-element availability and/or speciation in the specimens' (calcification) micro-environments. Conceivable are also culturing studies investigating foraminiferal metabolism and biogeochemistry, or combined molecular-geochemical approaches (discussed below).

7.3 Integration of molecular techniques in foraminiferal studies

Biodiversity assessments and bioindication

Metabarcoding is often referred to as a 'quick and easy' alternative to conventional assemblage studies, by circumventing the time-intensive microscopic observations and morphology-based taxonomic identification requiring expert knowledge, which is becoming rare. However, especially the processing of metabarcoding data does require time and specialised knowledge-albeit of different nature than traditional approaches-in particular before efficient and reliable protocols are developed to partially automate the (bioinformatic) protocols. Further, while theoretically taxonomy-free approaches are possible, the identification of recorded taxonomic units is preferential in order to align and validate the molecular output with established (morpho-)species concepts. This calls both for expertise in foraminiferal genomics, and sequence reference databases of wide coverage.

In the metabarcoding project of my thesis (Paper IV), the taxonomic identification of the molecular units proved crucial in appropriately interpreting responses to environmental variability on species-level. Observed sequence abundance shifts with environmental changes were not congruent with known species' ecology, highlighting both reliable calibrations of molecular species responses to environmental factors of interest being still outstanding, and shortcomings in methodological understanding of the metabarcoding approach. Furthermore, several issues that are currently associated with the metabarcoding approach also became evident in our

study, such as biases related to the DNA extraction methods and the seemingly variable influence of propagules, questions regarding DNA preservation through time, the relationship between read- and specimen abundance, and lacking reference data base coverage preventing assignments of taxonomic units (see discussion in Paper IV).

Continued efforts should be directed at systematic comparisons of assemblages derived from molecular and morphological studies, as well as their respective responses to environmental stressors, in order to eventually establish metabarcoding as standalone method in diversity and ecological assessments. Complementation of our metabarcoding study with single-cell barcoding was able to bridge some gaps between previously observation-based assemblage data and the metabarcoding output. Specifically creating a local database of species diversity eased comparisons between morpho- and molecular species composition and allowed to constrain potential sources of (methodological) uncertainties, such as the contribution of propagule sequences to the extracted DNA pool.

Barcoding can further inform about species-level genomic variability (e.g., Borrelli et al., 2018a; Pillet et al., 2012), knowledge of which is essential to correctly estimate biodiversity, as well as taxon abundance (e.g., Weber & Pawlowski, 2014). In the project presented in Paper IV we corrected the taxonomic assignment of amplicon sequence variants (ASV) manually, by cross-checking sequences with reference barcodes. Accordingly, variants that could with confidence assigned to the same species were pooled. The most prominent example was the reassignment of 17 ASVs to Ammonia confertitesta (phylotype T6), a representative of one of the molecularly best studied foraminifera genera (e.g., Bird et al., 2020; Hayward et al., 2004, 2021; Holzmann, 2000; Holzmann & Pawlowski, 2000; Richirt et al., 2019, 2021; Schweizer et al., 2011). Naturally, if only a single specimen was barcoded to represent a species, no information on potential polymorphisms could be inferred. Still, overall environmental trends were approximately equivalent for unpooled and pooled assemblages, although strength and significance of environmental correlations improved distinctly with pooling (Brinkmann et al., unpublished data).

Taxonomic certainty is also an important factor in foraminifera-based bioindication. Benthic foraminifera species can be morphologically similar and difficult to separate taxonomically, requiring detailed taxonomical descriptions and illustrations for confident species identification (e.g., Cage *et al.*, 2021). In some cases, morphological criteria are not sufficient and molecular analyses required to elucidate different genetic types categorised under one morphospecies (e.g., Deldicq et al., 2019; Pawlowski & Holzmann, 2014). Additionally, genetic types may have distinct distribution patterns and/or be ecologically distinct (e.g., Gooday & Jorissen, 2012; Richirt et al., 2021). Thus, observations of species' responses to environmental factors may not be transferable between phylotypes and grouping of morphologically similar taxa may lead to loss of modern and past environmental information. Phylogenetically informed species identification based on foraminiferal barcodes can resolve taxonomic uncertainties and is particularly informative if combined with morphological and ecological assessments (e.g., Bird et al., 2020; Darling et al., 2016; Hayward et al., 2004; Roberts et al., 2016). In Papers I and IV we could confirm several (pseudo-) cryptic species within the nonionids (Papers I, IV), with several clades representing taxa previously morphologically recognised as Nonionella stella (see also Deldicq et al., 2019), and Nonionella turgida, respectively. Nonionella species, in particular N. stella, are frequently used as indicators of oxygen-depleted conditions. Hence, correct taxonomic identifications are of significance if the phylotypes' bioindicator qualities differ. In turn, once genetically characterised and included in reference databases, distribution patterns and ecologies of distinct phylotypes can be efficiently tracked by largescale metabarcoding efforts.

Geochemical proxy calibrations and applications

Species-specific effects were also a common source of uncertainty in our geochemical proxy calibration attempts (Papers I–III) and have the potential to introduce significant errors in environmental interpretations if not constrained. By genetically characterising proxy candidate species, such as implemented by Groeneveld *et al.* (2018) and Paper I, taxonomic uncertainties can be circumvented, and unaccounted-for variability by potentially geochemically distinct genotypes avoided. While we identified several (pseudo-)cryptic species (see previous section; Papers I, IV), it was beyond the scope of our studies to investigate the geochemical signals of the respective clades and assess potential differences in trace-elemental incorporation.

While not addressed within this thesis, metabarcoding and other molecular approaches are viable options to identify metabolic interactions and trophic pathways in foraminifera (e.g., denitrification, kleptoplasty). Foraminifera single-cell or high-throughput

sequencing of microbial DNA within foraminifera have the potential to reveal symbioses or interactions with bacteria (e.g., Bird et al., 2018; Greco et al., 2021). (Meta)transcriptome data of foraminifera has been used to investigate active genes with potential links to metabolic strategies, such as denitrification (e.g., Gomaa et al., 2021; Orsi et al., 2020), or differential (metabolic) gene expression in response to exposure to environmental stressors (e.g., Titelboim et al., 2021). Metabolic strategies of foraminifera, or their symbionts, may directly or indirectly affect incorporation of trace-elements, as hypothesised in Paper II-or foraminiferal stable isotopes signals, as recently hypothesised by e.g., Schmidt et al. (2022). However, to date no molecular studies linked metabolic and biogeochemical investigations specifically.

8. Conclusions

- Benthic foraminiferal Mn/Ca has potential as indicator of low-oxygen conditions in bottom-waters. With continued calibration efforts quantitative reconstructions of bottom-water oxygenation might be feasible for oxygen concentrations within the low-oxygen range
- In near-coast areas with relevant terrestrial Ba input benthic foraminiferal Ba/Ca may present a powerful tool for palaeo-drought reconstructions. The case study of Ba/Ca trends in response to contrasting coastal hydroclimate conditions and associated riverine input demonstrated strong qualitative trends in trace-elemental signals of shallow-dwelling foraminifera.
- Quantitative interpretations of trace-element proxy signals are aided by an understanding of ambient geochemical conditions—Mn availability, oxygenation and redox regime in the case of Mn/Ca, and riverine concentrations, water-column shuttling mechanisms and sedimentary fluxes of Ba in the case of Ba/Ca.
- The relative contributions of abiotic and biotic factors controlling TE/Ca of benthic foraminifera are species- and trace-element specific and affect biogeochemical proxy relationships to various degrees. Chamber-specific micro-

analyses of trace element concentrations and distributions are of high value for investigating intra-specimen geochemical trends of both extrinsic and intrinsic nature. Micro-habitat distribution and utilised metabolic pathways, such as by denitrification or kleptoplasty, appear to be the most significant factors in determining a species' proxy potential. Further studies are required to constrain the possible contributions of these biological factors to biogeochemical cycling in benthic environments.

Metabarcoding is a useful tool for surveying differentiation of foraminiferal communities of strongly contrasting environments (e.g., brackish vs. marine), in dependence of DNA extraction methodology. Despite foraminiferal morphoand molecular communities differing in composition, perceived diversity trends in response to environmental variability are congruent between conventional and metabarcoding assemblage assessments. Lacking sensitivity of sequence abundance data to short-term environmental perturbations limits stand-alone applications in bioindication at this point in time.

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV
Study design	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann
	S. Ni	H. L. Filipsson	H. L. Filipsson	H. L. Filipsson
	H. L. Filipsson	C. Barras	I m	M. Schweizer
	N. B. Quintana Krupinski			C. Barras
				J. M. Bernhard
Data collection				
Field sampling	S. Ni	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann
	H. L. Filipsson	H. L. Filipsson	H. L. Filipsson	H. L. Filipsson
	J. M. Bernhard	T. Jilbert	T. Jilbert	M. Schweizer
	V. E. Oldham	K. M. Paul	K. M. Paul	H. Nilsson
	N. B. Quintana Krupinski	M. Schweizer	M. Schweizer	E. Vardar
	C. M. Hansel	S. Jokinen	S. Jokinen	
		H. Nilsson	H. Nilsson	
Foraminifera Sample	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann
Preparation	S. Ni		G. Pappalardo	S. Quinchard
	K. Lindén			M. Schweizer
Biogeochemistry:	I. Brinkmann			
SIMS	M. I. Whitehouse			
	H. Jeon			
Biogeochemistry:		I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	
Laser-Ablation ICP-MS		T. Næraa	T. Næraa	
Biogeochemical imaging	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann		
(XRF)	S. Ni	A. Somogyi		
	H. L. Filipsson	H. L. Filipsson		
	K. Medjoubi	S. Ni		
	A. Somogyi	C. Barras		
	C. Barras			
SEM imaging	I. Brinkmann			M. Schweizer
	R. Mallet			R. Mallet
Barcoding and Metabar-	M. Schweizer			I. Brinkmann
coding				M. Schweizer
				S. Quinchard
Sediment Geochemistry	V.E. Oldham	T. Jilbert	T. Jilbert	
Securite Secontennotaly	C. M. Hansel	K. M. Paul	K. M. Paul	
Statistical Analyses	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann
	S. Ni			D. Singer
Writing of Original	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann
Manuscript Draft	M. Schweizer			M. Schweizer
Preparation of Figures	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann	I. Brinkmann
	M. Schweizer			M. Schweizer
	A. Somogyi			
				
Review of Manuscript	All authors	All authors	All authors	All authors

Table 1. Author contributions to papers included in this thesis. Non-author contributions marked by italics.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

FN:s mellanstatliga klimatpanel, IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) har under en längre tid belyst konsekvenserna av långsiktiga förändringar i vårt klimatsystem och varnat för hur dessa kan komma att påverka ekosystem och samhället i stort. En sådan långsiktig förändring är minskande syrgashalter i världshaven. Detta är en av många allvarliga konsekvenser till följd av klimatförändringarna, och orsakas bland annat av uppvärmning och övergödning. Minskningen i syrgashalt har en negativ påverkan på både djur och andra organismer som är beroende av syre för sin respiration, vilket kan driva hela ekosystem i obalans.

De senaste decennierna har även andra effekter av klimatförändringarna blivit märkbara, t ex den ökande förekomsten av extrema väderhändelser, såsom torka och värmeböljor. Utdragen och svår torka har förödande effekter för jordbruk, samhälle och ekonomi samt ekosystem. Prognoser från klimatmodeller visar dessutom att vi kan vänta oss en förvärrad situation inom en snar framtid, både med avseende på minskad syrgashalt i världshaven och extrema vädermönster. En ökad förståelse för ingående processer och vilka "naturliga" variationer det finns i olika ekosystem kan hjälpa till för att förstå framtida effekter, och kan i slutändan hjälpa till att informera om potentiella lösningar för ekologiska och mänskliga anpassningar.

En metod för att lära sig mer om variationer i miljö- och klimatfaktorer, ekosystemreaktioner och -återhämtning är att studera det förflutna. För att ta fram miljödata som går längre tillbaka i tiden än traditionell miljöövervakning krävs miljöindikatorer som bevarar sådan information. Marina sediment utgör i många fall ett unikt miljöarkiv, och kan ge indirekt information om forna tiders hav and dess miljöförhållanden eller om närliggande landområden, till exempel i form av olika rester av mikroorganismer, växter eller djur. Vi brukar kalla dessa indirekta miljövariabler för proxyvariabler eller proxies. Dessa proxyvariabaler behöver dock 'översättas' och ordboken utgörs av kunskap om förhållanden mellan miljö- och klimatförhållanden och samtida marina biologiska indikatorer.

Min avhandling består av fyra olika forskningsprojekt, alla med det övergripande syftet att vidareutveckla foraminifer-baserade proxies för miljö- och klimatvariabilitet. Foraminiferer är mikroskopiskt små encelliga mikroorganismer som ofta har ett skal av kalk. Kalkskalen har flera stora fördelar, t. ex de bevaras oftast i marina sediment, och olika isotoper och grundämnen från havsvattnet byggs in i kalkskalen. Projekten baseras på en mängd nya biogeokemiska och molekylära tillvägagångssätt för att studera biologiska markörer av pågående miljöförändringar i kustområden – fjordar på den svenska västkusten och Santa Barbara Basin utanför Kalifornien; USA. Först undersöktes halten av olika spårelement (mangan och barium) i foraminiferers skal för att öka kunskapen om kopplingen mellan dels mangan och syrebrist i havet (Artikel I-II), dels barium och torka på land (Artikel III). Jag har använt mig av en rad olika högupplösta plasma-, laser- och synkrotronbaserad tekniker. Resultaten belyser potentialen hos mangan- och barium-proxies som miljöindikatorer, men lyfter även fram betydelsen av artspecifika kalibreringar och olika biologiska funktioners inverkan på skalsammansättningen. Slutligen studerades sammansättningen av foraminiferer genom deras DNA-fotavtryck i marina sediment i olika miljöer (Artikel IV). Här lyfter vi fram hur och var denna nya metod skulle kunna ge viktiga bidrag i moderna miljöbedömningar, samt diskuterar metodologiska osäkerheter som kräver ytterligare uppmärksamhet.

Avhandlingen bidrar till en mer detaljerad förståelse av de biologiska processer som påverkar foraminifer-baserade miljöindikatorer, och föreslår framtida forskningsinriktningar som är nödvändiga för att befästa en framgångsrik tillämpning av de föreslagna proxyvariablerna i olika miljöhistoriska studier och modern övervakning.

References

- Adl, S. M., Simpson, A. G., Farmer, M. A., Andersen, R. A., Anderson, O. R., Barta, J. R., . . . Fredericq, S. (2005). The new higher level classification of eukaryotes with emphasis on the taxonomy of protists. *Journal* of *Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 52(5), 399–451. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2005.00053.x
- Aller, R. C., Charnock, H., Edmond, J. M., McCave, I. N., Rice, A. L., & Wilson, T. R. S. (1990). Bioturbation and manganese cycling in hemipelagic sediments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 331*(1616), 51–68. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.1990.0056
- Allison, N., & Austin, W. E. N. (2003). The potential of ion microprobe analysis in detecting geochemical variations across individual foraminifera tests. *Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems,* 4(2), 8403. https://doi. org/10.1029/2002gc000430
- Alve, E. (2003). A common opportunistic foraminiferal species as an indicator of rapidly changing conditions in a range of environments. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 57*(3), 501–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0272-7714(02)00383-9
- Alve, E., & Bernhard, J. M. (1995). Vertical migratory response of benthic foraminifera to controlled oxygen concentrations in an experimental mesocosm. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 116*, 137–151. https://www. jstor.org/stable/44635001
- Alve, E., Korsun, S., Schönfeld, J., Dijkstra, N., Golikova, E., Hess, S., . . . Panieri, G. (2016). Foram-AMBI: A sensitivity index based on benthic foraminiferal faunas from North-East Atlantic and Arctic fjords, continental shelves and slopes. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 122, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2015.11.001
- Alve, E., Murray, J. W., & Skei, J. (2011). Deep-sea benthic foraminifera, carbonate dissolution and species diversity in Hardangerfjord, Norway: An initial assessment. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 92*(1), 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2010.12.018
- Angell, R. W. (1980). Test morphogenesis (chamber formation) in the foraminifer *Spiroloculina hyalina* Schulze. *The Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 10(2), 89–101. https://doi.org/10.2113/gsjfr.10.2.89
- Asteman, I. P., & Schönfeld, J. (2016). Recent invasion of the foraminifer *Nonionella stella* Cushman & Moyer, 1930 in northern European waters: evidence from the Skagerrak and its fjords. *Journal of Micropalaeon*-

tology, *35*(1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1144/jmpa-leo2015-007

- Bahr, A., Schönfeld, J., Hoffmann, J., Voigt, S., Aurahs, R., Kucera, M., . . . Gerdes, A. (2013). Comparison of Ba/Ca and δ¹⁸O as freshwater proxies: A multi-species core-top study on planktonic foraminifera from the vicinity of the Orinoco River mouth. *Earth* and Planetary Science Letters, 383, 45–57. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.epsl.2013.09.036
- Balestra, B., Orland, I. J., Fessenden-Rahn, J., Gorski, G., Franks, R., Rahn, T., & Paytan, A. (2020). Paired analyses of oxygen isotope and elemental ratios within individual shells of benthic foraminifera genus Uvigerina. Chemical Geology, 533, 119377. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2019.119377
- Barras, C., Mouret, A., Nardelli, P., Metzger, E., Petersen, J., La, C., . . . Jorissen, F. (2018). Experimental calibration of manganese incorporation in foraminiferal calcite. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 237*, 49–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2018.06.009
- Barras, C., Geslin, E., Duplessy, J.-C., & Jorissen, F. J. (2009). Reproduction and growth of the deep-sea benthic foraminifer *Bulimina marginata* under different laboratory conditions. *The Journal of Foraminiferal Research, 39*(3), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.2113/ gsjfr.39.3.155
- Barras, C., Jorissen, F. J., Labrune, C., Andral, B., & Boissery, P. (2014). Live benthic foraminiferal faunas from the French Mediterranean Coast: Towards a new biotic index of environmental quality. *Ecological Indicators, 36*, 719–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolind.2013.09.028
- Barrientos, N., Lear, C. H., Jakobsson, M., Stranne, C., O'Regan, M., Cronin, T. M., . . . Coxall, H. K. (2018).
 Arctic Ocean benthic foraminifera Mg/Ca ratios and global Mg/Ca-temperature calibrations: New constraints at low temperatures. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 236*, 240–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2018.02.036
- Bastos, A., Fu, Z., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Sitch, S., Pongratz, J., . . . Zaehle, S. (2020). Impacts of extreme summers on European ecosystems: a comparative analysis of 2003, 2010 and 2018. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 375*(1810), 20190507. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0507
- Bé, A. W., Hemleben, C., Anderson, O. R., & Spindler, M. (1979). Chamber formation in planktonic foraminifera. *Micropaleontology*, 25(3), 294–307. https://www. jstor.org/stable/1485304
- Belgrano, A., Lindahl, O., & Hernroth, B. (1999). North Atlantic Oscillation primary productivity and toxic phytoplankton in the Gullmar Fjord, Sweden (1985– 1996). Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences, 266(1418), 425–430. https://doi.org/10.1098/

rspb.1999.0655

- Bemis, B. E., Spero, H. J., Bijma, J., & Lea, D. W. (1998). Reevaluation of the oxygen isotopic composition of planktonic foraminifera: Experimental results and revised paleotemperature equations. *Paleoceanography*, 13(2), 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 98PA00070
- Bentov, S., Brownlee, C., & Erez, J. (2009). The role of seawater endocytosis in the biomineralization process in calcareous foraminifera. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(51), 21500–21504. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0906636106
- Berkeley, A., Perry, C. T., Smithers, S. G., Horton, B. P., & Taylor, K. G. (2007). A review of the ecological and taphonomic controls on foraminiferal assemblage development in intertidal environments. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 83(3), 205–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. earscirev.2007.04.003
- Bernhard, J. M. (2003). Potential symbionts in bathyal foraminifera. *Science*, 299(5608), 861861. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.107731
- Bernhard, J. M., Blanks, J. K., Hintz, C. J., & Chandler, G. T. (2004). Use of the fluorescent calcite marker calcein to label foraminiferal tests. *Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 34(2), 96–101. https://doi. org/10.2113/0340096
- Bernhard, J. M., & Bowser, S. S. (1999). Benthic foraminifera of dysoxic sediments: chloroplast sequestration and functional morphology. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 46(1), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-8252(99)00017-3
- Bernhard, J. M., Habura, A., & Bowser, S. S. (2006a). An endobiont-bearing allogromiid from the Santa Barbara Basin: Implications for the early diversification of foraminifera. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 111*(G3). https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2005JG000158
- Bernhard, J. M., Ostermann, D. R., Williams, D. S., & Blanks, J. K. (2006b). Comparison of two methods to identify live benthic foraminifera: A test between Rose Bengal and CellTracker Green with implications for stable isotope paleoreconstructions. *Paleoceanography*, 21(4), PA4210. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2006PA001290
- Bernhard, J. M., Sen Gupta, B. K., & Borne, P. F. (1997). Benthic foraminiferal proxy to estimate dysoxic bottom-water oxygen concentrations; Santa Barbara Basin, US Pacific continental margin. *The Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 27(4), 301–310. https://doi. org/10.2113/gsjfr.27.4.301
- Bernhard, J. M., Visscher, P. T., & Bowser, S. S. (2003). Submillimeter life positions of bacteria, protists, and metazoans in laminated sediments of the Santa Bar-

bara Basin. *Limnology and oceanography*, 48(2), 813-828. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2003.48.2.0813

- Bianchi, T. S., Arndt, S., Austin, W. E. N., Benn, D. I., Bertrand, S., Cui, X., . . . Syvitski, J. (2020). Fjords as Aquatic Critical Zones (ACZs). *Earth-Science Reviews*, 203, 103145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103145
- Bice, K. L., Layne, G. D., & Dahl, K. (2005). Application of secondary ion mass spectrometry to the determination of Mg/Ca in rare, delicate, or altered planktonic foraminifera: Examples from the Holocene, Paleogene, and Cretaceous. *Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 6*(12), Q12P07. https://doi. org/10.1029/2005gc000974
- Bird, C., Darling, K. F., Russell, A. D., Fehrenbacher, J. S., Davis, C. V., Free, A., & Ngwenya, B. T. (2018).
 16S rRNA gene metabarcoding and TEM reveals different ecological strategies within the genus *Neogloboquadrina* (planktonic foraminifer). *PloS one*, *13*(1), e0191653. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0191653
- Bird, C., Schweizer, M., Roberts, A., Austin, W. E. N., Knudsen, K. L., Evans, K. M., . . . Darling, K. F. (2020). The genetic diversity, morphology, biogeography, and taxonomic designations of *Ammonia* (Foraminifera) in the Northeast Atlantic. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 155, 101726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2019.02.001
- Bograd, S., J., Schwing, F., B., Castro, C., G., & Timothy, D., A. (2002). Bottom water renewal in the Santa Barbara Basin. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 107*(C12), 9-1-9-9. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JC001291
- Borrelli, C., Hou, Y., Pawlowski, J. W., Holzmann, M., Katz, M. E., Chandler, G. T., & Bowser, S. S. (2018a). Assessing SSU rDNA barcodes in Foraminifera: A case study using *Bolivina quadrata*. *Journal of Eukaryotic Mi*crobiology, 65(2), 220–235. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jeu.12471
- Borrelli, C., Panieri, G., Dahl, T. M., & Neufeld, K. (2018b). Novel biomineralization strategy in calcareous foraminifera. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 10201. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-018-28400-2
- Bouchet, V. M. P., Alve, E., Rygg, B., & Telford, R. J. (2012). Benthic foraminifera provide a promising tool for ecological quality assessment of marine waters. *Ecological Indicators*, 23, 66–75. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.03.011
- Bouchet, V. M. P., Frontalini, F., Francescangeli, F., Sauriau, P.-G., Geslin, E., Martins, M. V. A., ... Armynot du Châtelet, E. (2021). Indicative value of benthic foraminifera for biomonitoring: Assignment to ecological groups of sensitivity to total organic carbon of species from European intertidal areas and transitional waters. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 164*, 112071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112071

- Bouchet, V. M. P., Telford, R. J., Rygg, B., Oug, E., & Alve, E. (2018). Can benthic foraminifera serve as proxies for changes in benthic macrofaunal community structure? Implications for the definition of reference conditions. *Marine Environmental Research*, 137, 24–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2018.02.023
- Brás, T. A., Seixas, J., Carvalhais, N., & Jägermeyr, J. (2021). Severity of drought and heatwave crop losses tripled over the last five decades in Europe. *Environmental Research Letters*, *16*(6), 065012. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/abf004
- Brattegard, T. (1980). Why Biologists are Interested in Fjords. In H. J. Freeland, D. M. Farmer, & C. D. Levings (Eds.), *Fjord Oceanography* (pp. 53–66). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Breitburg, D., Levin, L. A., Oschlies, A., Gregoire, M., Chavez, F. P., Conley, D. J., . . . Zhang, J. (2018).
 Declining oxygen in the global ocean and coastal waters. *Science*, 359(6371), eaam7240. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aam7240
- Buhl-Mortensen, L., Buhl-Mortensen, P., Glenner, H.,
 Båmstedt, U., & Bakkeplass, K. (2020). Chapter
 19 The inland deep sea—benthic biotopes in the
 Sognefjord. In P. T. Harris & E. Baker (Eds.), Seafloor
 Geomorphology as Benthic Habitat (Second Edition) (pp.
 355–372): Elsevier.
- Buhl-Mortensen, P., & Buhl-Mortensen, L. (2014). Diverse and vulnerable deep-water biotopes in the Hardangerfjord. *Marine Biology Research*, 10(3), 253–267. https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2013.810759
- Büntgen, U., Urban, O., Krusic, P. J., Rybníček, M., Kolář, T., Kyncl, T., . . . Trnka, M. (2021). Recent European drought extremes beyond Common Era background variability. *Nature Geoscience*, 14(4), 190–196. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41561-021-00698-0
- Burdige, D. J. (1993). The biogeochemistry of manganese and iron reduction in marine-sediments. *Earth-Science Re*views, 35(3), 249–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-8252(93)90040-E
- Burdige, D. J., Komada, T., Magen, C., & Chanton, J. P. (2016). Modeling studies of dissolved organic matter cycling in Santa Barbara Basin (CA, USA) sediments. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 195, 100–119. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2016.09.007
- Cage, A. G., Pieńkowski, A. J., Jennings, A., Knudsen, K. L., & Seidenkrantz, M. S. (2021). Comparative analysis of six common foraminiferal species of the genera *Cassidulina, Paracassidulina*, and *Islandiella* from the Arctic–North Atlantic domain. *Journal of Micropalaeontology, 40*(1), 37–60. https://doi.org/10.5194/ jm-40-37-2021
- Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. P. (2017). Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. *The ISME*

journal, 11(12), 2639–2643. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ismej.2017.119

- Carrigg, C., Rice, O., Kavanagh, S., Collins, G., & O'Flaherty, V. (2007). DNA extraction method affects microbial community profiles from soils and sediment. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 77(4), 955–964. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-007-1219-y
- Carstensen, J., Conley, D. J., Bonsdorff, E., Gustafsson, B. G., Hietanen, S., Janas, U., . . . Norkko, J. (2014). Hypoxia in the Baltic Sea: Biogeochemical cycles, benthic fauna, and management. *Ambio*, 43(1), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-013-0474-7
- Carter, S. C., Paytan, A., & Griffith, E. M. (2020). Toward an improved understanding of the marine barium cycle and the application of marine barite as a paleoproductivity proxy. *Minerals, 10*(5), 421. https://doi. org/10.3390/min10050421
- Cavaliere, M., Barrenechea Angeles, I., Montresor, M., Bucci, C., Brocani, L., Balassi, E., . . . Frontalini, F. (2021). Assessing the ecological quality status of the highly polluted Bagnoli area (Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy) using foraminiferal eDNA metabarcoding. *Science* of the Total Environment, 790, 147871. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147871
- Cedhagen, T. (1991). Retention of chloroplasts and bathymetric distribution in the sublittoral foraminiferan *Nonionellina labradorica*. *Ophelia*, *33*(1), 17–30. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00785326.1991.10429739
- Chen, D., & Hellström, C. (1999). The influence of the North Atlantic Oscillation on the regional temperature variability in Sweden: spatial and temporal variations. *Tellus A*, 51(4), 505–516. https://doi. org/10.1034/j.1600-0870.1999.t01-4-00004.x
- Choquel, C., Geslin, E., Metzger, E., Filipsson, H. L., Risgaard-Petersen, N., Launeau, P., . . . Mouret, A. (2021). Denitrification by benthic foraminifera and their contribution to N-loss from a fjord environment. *Biogeosciences*(18), 327–341. https://doi. org/10.5194/bg-18-327-2021
- Chow, T. J., & Goldberg, E. D. (1960). On the marine geochemistry of barium. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 20(3–4), 192–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(60)90073-9
- Clark, K., Jensen, K., & Stirts, H. (1990). Survey for functional kleptoplasty among west Atlantic Ascoglossa (= Sacoglossa) (Mollusca: Opisthobranchia). The Veliger, 33(4), 339–345.
- Coffey, M., Dehairs, F., Collette, O., Luther, G., Church, T., & Jickells, T. (1997). The behaviour of dissolved barium in estuaries. *Estnarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 45*(1), 113–121. https://doi.org/10.1006/ ecss.1996.0157
- Conley, D. J., Carstensen, J., Aigars, J., Axe, P., Bonsdorff, E.,

Eremina, T., ... Kotta, J. (2011). Hypoxia is increasing in the coastal zone of the Baltic Sea. *Environmental science & technology*, 45(16), 6777–6783. https:// doi.org/10.1021/es201212r

- Cook, B. I., Mankin, J. S., Marvel, K., Williams, A. P., Smerdon, J. E., & Anchukaitis, K. J. (2020). Twenty-first century drought projections in the CMIP6 forcing scenarios. *Earth's Future*, 8(6), e2019EF001461. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019ef001461
- Cook, E. R., Seager, R., Kushnir, Y., Briffa, K. R., Büntgen, U., Frank, D., . . . Zang, C. (2015). Old World megadroughts and pluvials during the Common Era. *Science Advances*, 1(10), e1500561. https://doi. org/10.1126/sciadv.1500561
- Cooley, S., Schoeman, D., Bopp, L., Boyd, P., Donner, S., Ito, S.-I., . . . Racault, M.-F. (2022). Oceans and coastal ecosystems and their services. In *IPCC AR6 WGII*: Cambridge University Press.
- Cordier, T., Barrenechea, I., Lejzerowicz, F., Reo, E., & Pawlowski, J. (2019). Benthic foraminiferal DNA metabarcodes significantly vary along a gradient from abyssal to hadal depths and between each side of the Kuril-Kamchatka trench. *Progress in Ocean*ography, 178, 102175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pocean.2019.102175
- Corinaldesi, C., Tangherlini, M., Manea, E., & Dell'Anno, A. (2018). Extracellular DNA as a genetic recorder of microbial diversity in benthic deep-sea ecosystems. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 1839. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-018-20302-7
- Corliss, B. H. (1991). Morphology and microhabitat preferences of benthic foraminifera from the northwest Atlantic Ocean. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 17(3), 195–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-8398(91)90014-W
- Cushman, J. A. (2013). Foraminifera: Their Classification and Economic Use. (4 ed.). Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- D'Olivo, J. P., & McCulloch, M. (2022). Impact of European settlement and land use changes on Great Barrier Reef river catchments reconstructed from long-term coral Ba/Ca records. *Science of the Total Environment*, *830*, 154461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154461
- Darling, K. F., Schweizer, M., Knudsen, K. L., Evans, K. M., Bird, C., Roberts, A., . . . Wade, C. M. (2016). The genetic diversity, phylogeography and morphology of Elphidiidae (Foraminifera) in the Northeast Atlantic. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 129, 1–23. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2016.09.001
- De Giudici, G., Meneghini, C., Medas, D., Buosi, C., Zuddas, P., Iadecola, A., . . . Kuncser, A. C. (2018). Coordination environment of Zn in foraminifera *Elphidium aculeatum* and *Quinqueloculina seminula* shells from a polluted site. *Chemical Geology*, 477, 100–111. https://

doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2017.12.009

- Dehairs, F., Chesselet, R., & Jedwab, J. (1980). Discrete suspended particles of barite and the barium cycle in the open ocean. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 49(2), 528–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-821X(80)90094-1
- de Nooijer, L. J., Brombacher, A., Mewes, A., Langer, G., Nehrke, G., Bijma, J., & Reichart, G.-J. (2017). Ba incorporation in benthic foraminifera. *Biogeosciences*, 14(14), 3387–3400. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-3387-2017
- de Nooijer, L. J., Hathorne, E. C., Reichart, G. J., Langer, G., & Bijma, J. (2014a). Variability in calcitic Mg/Ca and Sr/Ca ratios in clones of the benthic foraminifer *Ammonia tepida. Marine Micropaleontology, 107*, 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2014.02.002
- de Nooijer, L. J., Spero, H. J., Erez, J., Bijma, J., & Reichart, G. J. (2014b). Biomineralization in perforate foraminifera. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 135, 48–58. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2014.03.013
- de Nooijer, L. J., Toyofuku, T., & Kitazato, H. (2009). Foraminifera promote calcification by elevating their intracellular pH. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 106(36), 15374–15378. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0904306106
- Deldicq, N., Alve, E., Schweizer, M., Asteman, I. P., Hess, S., Darling, K., & Bouchet, V. M. P. (2019). History of the introduction of a species resembling the benthic foraminifera *Nonionella stella* in the Oslofjord (Norway) : morphological, molecular and paleo-ecological evidences. *Aquatic Invasions*, 14(2), 182–205. https:// doi.org/10.3391/ai.2019.14.2.03
- Diaz, R. J., & Rosenberg, R. (1995). Marine benchic hypoxia: A review of its ecological effects and the behavioural responses of benchic macrofauna. Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review, 33, 245–303.
- Diaz, R. J., & Rosenberg, R. (2008). Spreading dead zones and consequences for marine ecosystems. *Science*, 321(5891), 926–929. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1156401
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., Singh, D., Mankin, J. S., Horton, D. E., Swain, D. L., Touma, D., . . . Rajaratnam, B. (2017). Quantifying the influence of global warming on unprecedented extreme climate events. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(19), 4881–4886. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618082114
- Diz, P., Barras, C., Geslin, E., Reichart, G.-J., Metzger, E., Jorissen, F., & Bijma, J. (2012). Incorporation of Mg and Sr and oxygen and carbon stable isotope fractionation in cultured *Ammonia tepida*. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 92–93, 16–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marmicro.2012.04.006

COASTAL SIGNALS OF ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES: FORAMINIFERA AS BENTHIC MONITORS

Dymond, J., Suess, E., & Lyle, M. (1992). Barium in deep-sea sediment: A geochemical proxy for paleoproductivity. *Paleoceanography*, 7(2), 163–181. https://doi. org/10.1029/92PA00181

- Edgar, K. M., Pälike, H., & Wilson, P. A. (2013), Testing the impact of diagenesis on the δ¹⁸O and δ¹³C of benthic foraminiferal calcite from a sediment burial depth transect in the equatorial Pacific. *Paleocean*ography, 28, 468–480, https://doi.org/10.1002/ palo.20045.
- Elderfield, H., Bertram, C. J., & Erez, J. (1996). Biomineralization model for the incorporation of trace elements into foraminiferal calcium carbonate. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 142(3–4), 409–423. https://doi. org/10.1016/0012-821X(96)00105-7
- Elderfield, H., & Schultz, A. (1996). Mid-ccean ridge hydrothermal fluxes and the chemical composition of the ocean. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, 24(1), 191–224. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. earth.24.1.191
- Elderfield, H., Vautravers, M., & Cooper, M. (2002). The relationship between shell size and Mg/Ca, Sr/Ca, δ¹⁸O, and δ¹³C of species of planktonic foraminifera. *Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 3*(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001GC000194
- Emmer, E., & Thunell, R. C. (2000). Nitrogen isotope variations in Santa Barbara Basin sediments: Implications for denitrification in the eastern tropical North Pacific during the last 50,000 years. *Paleoceanography*, 15(4), 377–387. https://doi.org/doi:10.1029/ 1999PA000417
- Epstein, S., Buchsbaum, R., Lowenstam, H., & Urey, H. C. (1951). Carbonate-water isotopic temperature scale. *Geological Society of America Bulletin, 62*(4), 417–426. https://doi.org/10.1130/0016-7606(1951)62[417:C ITS]2.0.CO;2
- Erdem, Z., Schönfeld, J., Rathburn, A. E., Pérez, M. E., Cardich, J., & Glock, N. (2020). Bottom-water deoxygenation at the Peruvian margin during the last deglaciation recorded by benthic foraminifera. *Biogeosciences*, 17(12), 3165–3182. https://doi.org/10.5194/ bg-17-3165-2020
- Eren, A. M., Maignien, L., Sul, W. J., Murphy, L. G., Grim, S. L., Morrison, H. G., & Sogin, M. L. (2013). Oligotyping: differentiating between closely related microbial taxa using 16S rRNA gene data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(12), 1111–1119. https://doi. org/10.1111/2041-210X.12114
- Erez, J. (2003). The source of ions for biomineralization in foraminifera and their implications for paleoceanographic proxies. *Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry*, 54, 115–149. https://doi.org/10.2113/0540115
- Ernst, S., Bours, R., Duijnstee, I., & van der Zwaan, B. (2005). Experimental effects of an organic mat-

ter pulse and oxygen depletion on a benthic foraminiferal shelf community. *The Journal of Foraminiferal Research, 35*(3), 177–197. https://doi. org/10.2113/35.3.177

- Evans, D., Müller, W., & Erez, J. (2018). Assessing foraminifera biomineralisation models through trace element data of cultures under variable seawater chemistry. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 236*, 198–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2018.02.048
- Fehrenbacher, J. S., Russell, A. D., Davis, C. V., Spero, H. J., Chu, E., & Hönisch, B. (2018). Ba/Ca ratios in the non-spinose planktic foraminifer *Neogloboquadrina dutertrei*: Evidence for an organic aggregate microhabitat. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 236*, 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2018.03.008
- Field, C. B., Barros, V., Stocker, T. F., & Dahe, Q. (2012). Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press.
- Filipsson, H. L., Bernhard, J. M., Lincoln, S. A., & McCorkle, D. C. (2010). A culture-based calibration of benthic foraminiferal paleotemperature proxies: δ¹⁸O and Mg/Ca results. *Biogeosciences*, 7, 1335–1347. https:// doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-1335-2010
- Filipsson, H. L., & Nordberg, K. (2004a). A 200-year environmental record of a low-oxygen fjord, Sweden, elucidated by benthic foraminifera, sediment characteristics and hydrographic data. *Journal of Foraminiferal Research, 34*(4), 277–293. https://doi. org/10.2113/34.4.277
- Filipsson, H. L., & Nordberg, K. (2004b). Climate variations, an overlooked factor influencing the recent marine environment. An example from Gullmar Fjord, Sweden, illustrated by benthic foraminifera and hydrographic data. *Estuaries*, 27(5), 867–881. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF02912048
- Fontanier, C., Duros, P., Toyofuku, T., Oguri, K., Koho, K. A., Buscail, R., . . . De Nooijer, L. J. (2014). Living (stained) deep-sea foraminifera off Hachinohe (NE Japan, Western Pacific): environmental interplay in oxygen-depleted ecosystems. *The Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 44(3), 281–299. https://doi. org/10.2113/gsjfr.44.3.281
- Freire-González, J., Decker, C., & Hall, J. W. (2017). The economic impacts of droughts: A framework for analysis. *Ecological Economics*, 132, 196–204. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.11.005
- Froelich, P. N., Klinkhammer, G., Bender, M. L., Luedtke, N., Heath, G. R., Cullen, D., . . . Maynard, V. (1979). Early oxidation of organic matter in pelagic sediments of the eastern equatorial Atlantic: suboxic diagenesis. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 43(7), 1075–1090. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(79)90095-4

- Frontalini, F., Cordier, T., Balassi, E., Armynot du Chatelet, E., Cermakova, K., Apothéloz-Perret-Gentil, L., . . . Pawlowski, J. (2020). Benthic foraminiferal metabarcoding and morphology-based assessment around three offshore gas platforms: Congruence and complementarity. *Environment International*, 144, 106049. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106049
- Frontalini, F., Greco, M., Di Bella, L., Lejzerowicz, F., Reo, E., Caruso, A., . . . Pawlowski, J. (2018). Assessing the effect of mercury pollution on cultured benthic foraminifera community using morphological and eDNA metabarcoding approaches. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 129*(2), 512–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2017.10.022
- Gilbert, D., Rabalais, N., Diaz, R., & Zhang, J. (2010). Evidence for greater oxygen decline rates in the coastal ocean than in the open ocean. *Biogeosciences*, 7(7), 2283–2296. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-2283-2010
- Gilbert, D., Sundby, B., Gobeil, C., Mucci, A., & Tremblay, G. H. (2005). A seventy-two-year record of diminishing deep-water oxygen in the St. Lawrence estuary: The northwest Atlantic connection. *Limnology and oceanography*, 50(5), 1654–1666. https://doi.org/10.4319/ lo.2005.50.5.1654
- Glock, N., Eisenhauer, A., Liebetrau, V., Wiedenbeck, M., Hensen, C., & Nehrke, G. (2012). EMP and SIMS studies on Mn/Ca and Fe/Ca systematics in benthic foraminifera from the Peruvian OMZ: a contribution to the identification of potential redox proxies and the impact of cleaning protocols. *Biogeosciences*, 9(1), 341–359. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-341-2012
- Glock, N., Liebetrau, V., Eisenhauer, A., & Rocholl, A. (2016). High resolution I/Ca ratios of benthic foraminifera from the Peruvian oxygen-minimum-zone: A SIMS derived assessment of a potential redox proxy. *Chemical Geology*, 447, 40–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemgeo.2016.10.025
- Glock, N., Liebetrau, V., Vogts, A., & Eisenhauer, A. (2019). Organic heterogeneities in foraminiferal calcite traced through the distribution of N, S, and I measured with NanoSIMS: A new challenge for element-ratio-based paleoproxies? *Frontiers in Earth Science, 7*, 175. https://doi.org/10.3389/ feart.2019.00175
- Goericke, R., Bograd, S. J., & Grundle, D. S. (2015). Denitrification and flushing of the Santa Barbara Basin bottom waters. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, *112*, 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dsr2.2014.07.012
- Goës, A. T. (1894). A synopsis of the Arctic and Scandinavian recent marine foraminifera hitherto discovered: PA Norstedt & söner.

Goldberg, T., Archer, C., Vance, D., Thamdrup, B., McAne-

na, A., & Poulton, S. W. (2012). Controls on Mo isotope fractionations in a Mn-rich anoxic marine sediment, Gullmar Fjord, Sweden. *Chemical Geology, 296–297*, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2011.12.020

- Gomaa, F., Utter, D. R., Powers, C., Beaudoin, D. J., Edgcomb, V. P., Filipsson, H. L., . . . Bernhard, J. M. (2021). Multiple integrated metabolic strategies allow foraminiferan protists to thrive in anoxic marine sediments. *Science Advances*, 7(22), eabf1586. https:// doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abf1586
- Gómez-Navarro, J. J., Bothe, O., Wagner, S., Zorita, E., Werner, J. P., Luterbacher, J., . . . Montávez, J. P. (2015).
 A regional climate palaeosimulation for Europe in the period 1500–1990 Part 2: Shortcomings and strengths of models and reconstructions. *Climate Past*, *11*(8), 1077–1095. https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-11-1077-2015
- Gómez-Navarro, J. J., Montávez, J. P., Wagner, S., & Zorita, E. (2013). A regional climate palaeosimulation for Europe in the period 1500–1990 Part 1: Model validation. *Climate Past, 9*(4), 1667–1682. https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-9-1667-2013
- Gooday, A. J., Jorissen, F., Levin, L. A., Middelburg, J. J., Naqvi, S. W. A., Rabalais, N. N., . . . Zhang, J. (2009). Historical records of coastal eutrophication-induced hypoxia. *Biogeosciences*, 6(8), 1707–1745. https://doi. org/10.5194/bg-6-1707-2009
- Gooday, A. J., & Jorissen, F. J. (2012). Benthic foraminiferal biogeography: Controls on global distribution patterns in deep-water settings. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, 4(1), 237–262. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142737
- Greco, M., Morard, R., & Kucera, M. (2021). Single-cell metabarcoding reveals biotic interactions of the Arctic calcifier *Neogloboquadrina pachyderma* with the eukaryotic pelagic community. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 43(2), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/ fbab015
- Griffith, E. M., & Paytan, A. (2012). Barite in the ocean occurrence, geochemistry and palaeoceanographic applications. *Sedimentology*, *59*(6), 1817–1835. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3091.2012.01327.x
- Groeneveld, J., & Filipsson, H. L. (2013). Mg/Ca and Mn/Ca ratios in benthic foraminifera: the potential to reconstruct past variations in temperature and hypoxia in shelf regions. *Biogeosciences*, 10(7), 5125–5138. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-5125-2013
- Groeneveld, J., Filipsson, H. L., Austin, W. E., Darling, K., McCarthy, D., Krupinski, N. B. Q., . . . Schweizer, M. (2018). Assessing proxy signatures of temperature, salinity, and hypoxia in the Baltic Sea through foraminifera-based geochemistry and faunal assemblages. *Journal of Micropalaeontology*, 37, 403–429. https:// doi.org/10.5194/jm-37-403-2018

COASTAL SIGNALS OF ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES: FORAMINIFERA AS BENTHIC MONITORS

- Grunert, P., Rosenthal, Y., Jorissen, F., Holbourn, A., Zhou, X., & Piller, W. E. (2018). Mg/Ca-temperature calibration for costate *Bulimina* species (*B. costata, B. inflata, B. mexicana*): A paleothermometer for hypoxic environments. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 220*, 36–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2017.09.021
- Grzymski, J., Schofield, O. M., Falkowski, P. G., & Bernhard, J. M. (2002). The function of plastids in the deepsea benthic foraminifer, *Nonionella stella*. *Limnology* and oceanography, 47(6), 1569–1580. https://doi. org/10.4319/lo.2002.47.6.1569
- Guo, X., Wei, Q., Xu, B., Burnett, W. C., Bernhard, J. M., Nan, H., . . . Yu, Z. (2021). A benthic monitor for coastal water dissolved oxygen variation: Mn/Ca ratios in tests of an epifaunal foraminifer. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 126*(12), e2021JC017860. https:// doi.org/10.1029/2021JC017860
- Guo, X., Xu, B., Burnett, W. C., Yu, Z., Yang, S., Huang, X., ... Sun, F. (2019). A potential proxy for seasonal hypoxia: LA-ICP-MS Mn/Ca ratios in benthic foraminifera from the Yangtze River Estuary. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 245*, 290–303. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gca.2018.11.007
- Gustafsson, M., & Nordberg, K. (1999). Benthic foraminifera and their response to hydrography, periodic hypoxic conditions and primary production in the Koljo fjord on the Swedish west coast. *Journal of Sea Research, 41*(3), 163–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1385-1101(99)00002-7
- Gustafsson, M., & Nordberg, K. (2000). Living (stained) benthic foraminifera and their response to the seasonal hydrographic cycle, periodic hypoxia and to primary production in Havstens Fjord on the Swedish West coast. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 51*(6), 743– 761. https://doi.org/10.1006/ecss.2000.0695
- Gustafsson, M., & Nordberg, K. (2001). Living (stained) benthic foraminiferal response to primary production and hydrography in the deepest part of the Gullmar Fjord, Swedish West Coast, with comparisons to Hoglund's 1927 material. *The Journal* of Foraminiferal Research, 31(1), 2–11. https://doi. org/10.2113/0310002
- Hanor, J. S., & Chan, L.-H. (1977). Non-conservative behavior of barium during mixing of Mississippi River and Gulf of Mexico waters. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 37(2), 242–250. https://doi. org/10.1016/0012-821X(77)90169-8
- Harley, C. D. G., Randall Hughes, A., Hultgren, K. M., Miner, B. G., Sorte, C. J. B., Thornber, C. S., . . . Williams, S. L. (2006). The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems. *Ecology Letters*, 9(2), 228–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00871.x
- Harms, S., & Winant, C. D. (1998). Characteristic patterns of the circulation in the Santa Barbara Channel. *Journal* of *Geophysical Research: Oceans, 103*(C2), 3041–3065.

https://doi.org/10.1029/97JC02393

- Hasenfratz, A. P., Martínez-García, A., Jaccard, S. L., Vance, D., Wälle, M., Greaves, M., & Haug, G. H. (2017)
 Determination of the Mg/Mn ratio in foraminiferal coatings: an approach to correct Mg/Ca temperatures for Mn-rich contaminant pahses. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 457, 335–347. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.epsl.2016.10.004
- Hathorne, E. C., Alard, O., James, R. H., & Rogers, N. W. (2018). Determination of intratest variability of trace elements in foraminifera by laser ablation inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry. *Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems,* 4(12), 8408. https:// doi.org/10.1029/2003GC000539
- Hathorne, E. C., James, R. H., & Lampitt, R. S. (2009). Environmental versus biomineralization controls on the intratest variation in the trace element composition of the planktonic foraminifera *G. inflata* and *G. scitula. Paleoceanography, 24*(4), PA4204. https://doi. org/10.1029/2009PA001742
- Havach, S. M., Chandler, G. T., Wilson-Finelli, A., & Shaw, T. J. (2001). Experimental determination of trace element partition coefficients in cultured benthic foraminifera. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 65(8), 1277–1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(00)00563-9
- Havig, J. R., McCormick, M. L., Hamilton, T. L., & Kump, L. R. (2015). The behavior of biologically important trace elements across the oxic/euxinic transition of meromictic Fayetteville Green Lake, New York, USA. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 165, 389–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2015.06.024
- Hayward, B. W., Holzmann, M., Grenfell, H. R., Pawlowski, J., & Triggs, C. M. (2004). Morphological distinction of molecular types in *Ammonia* – towards a taxonomic revision of the world's most commonly misidentified foraminifera. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 50(3), 237–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8398(03)00074-4
- Hayward, B. W., Holzmann, M., Pawlowski, J., Parker, J. H., Kaushik, T., Toyofuku, M. S., & Tsuchiya, M. (2021). Molecular and morphological taxonomy of living *Ammonia* and related taxa (Foraminifera) and their biogeography. *Micropaleontology*, 67, 109–313. http:// doi.org/10.47894/mpal.67.2-3.01
- Hebert, P. D. N., Ratnasingham, S., & de Waard, J. R. (2003). Barcoding animal life: cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 divergences among closely related species. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 270, S96–S99. http://doi.org/10.1098/ rsbl.2003.0025
- Heinze, C., Blenckner, T., Martins, H., Rusiecka, D., Döscher, R., Gehlen, M., . . . Wilson, S. (2021). The quiet crossing of ocean tipping points. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(9), e2008478118.

http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2008478118

- Helly, J. J., & Levin, L. A. (2004). Global distribution of naturally occurring marine hypoxia on continental margins. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 51(9), 1159–1168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dsr.2004.03.009
- Henderson, L., & Kracek, F. C. (1927). The fractional precipitation of barium and radium chromates. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 49(3), 738–749.
- Hestetun, J. T., Lanzén, A., & Dahlgren, T. G. (2021). Grab what you can—an evaluation of spatial replication to decrease heterogeneity in sediment eDNA metabarcoding. *PeerJ*, *9*, e11619. https://doi.org/10.7717/ peerj.11619
- Hintz, C. J., Shaw, T. J., Bernhard, J. M., Chandler, G. T., Mc-Corkle, D. C., & Blanks, J. K. (2006a). Trace/minor element: calcium ratios in cultured benthic foraminifera. Part II: Ontogenetic variation. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 70(8), 1964–1976. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gca.2005.12.019
- Hintz, C. J., Shaw, T. J., Chandler, G. T., Bernhard, J. M., Mc-Corkle, D. C., & Blanks, J. K. (2006b). Trace/minor element: calcium ratios in cultured benthic foraminifera. Part I: Inter-species and inter-individual variability. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 70(8), 1952– 1963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2005.12.018
- Hoogakker, B. A. A., Elderfield, H., Schmiedl, G., McCave, I. N., & Rickaby, R. E. M. (2015). Glacial–interglacial changes in bottom-water oxygen content on the Portuguese margin. *Nature Geoscience*, 8(1), 40–43. https.//doi.org/10.1038/ngeo2317
- Holt, E., & Miller, S. (2011). Bioindicators: using organisms to measure environmental impacts. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 3(10), 8.
- Holzmann, M. (2000). Species concept in foraminifera: *Ammonia* as a case study. *Micropaleontology*, 46, 21–37. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1486178
- Holzmann, M., & Pawlowski, J. (2000). Taxonomic relationships in the genus *Ammonia* (Foraminifera) based on ribosomal DNA sequences. *Journal of Micropalaeontology*, 19(1), 85–95. https://doi.org/10.1144/ jm.19.1.85
- Howe, J. A., Austin, W. E., Forwick, M., Paetzel, M., Harland, R., & Cage, A. G. (2010). Fjord systems and archives: a review. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 344*(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1144/ SP344.2
- Hülsemann, J., & Emery, K. (1961). Stratification in recent sediments of Santa Barbara Basin as controlled by organisms and water character. *The Journal of Geology*, 69(3), 279–290. https://doi.org/10.1086/626742
- Hurrell, J. W. (1995). Decadal trends in the North Atlantic Oscillation: regional temperatures and precipitation. *Sci*-

ence, 269(5224), 676-679. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.269.5224.676

Huyer, A. (1983). Coastal upwelling in the California Current system. *Progress in Oceanography, 12*(3), 259–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/0079-6611(83)90010-1

Ivanochko, T. S., & Pedersen, T. F. (2004). Determining the influences of Late Quaternary ventilation and productivity variations on Santa Barbara Basin sedimentary oxygenation: a multi-proxy approach. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 23(3), 467–480. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2003.06.006

- Jauffrais, T., LeKieffre, C., Koho, K. A., Tsuchiya, M., Schweizer, M., Bernhard, J. M., . . . Geslin, E. (2018). Ultrastructure and distribution of kleptoplasts in benthic foraminifera from shallow-water (photic) habitats. *Marine Micropaleontology*, *138*, 46–62. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2017.10.003
- Jauffrais, T., LeKieffre, C., Schweizer, M., Geslin, E., Metzger, E., Bernhard, J. M., . . . Meibom, A. (2019). Kleptoplastidic benthic foraminifera from aphotic habitats: insights into assimilation of inorganic C, N and S studied with sub-cellular resolution. *Environmental microbiology, 21*(1), 125–141. https://doi. org/10.1111/1462-2920.14433

Jenkins, R. (1995). Quantitative X-Ray Spectrometry: CRC Press.

- Jokinen, S. A., Koho, K. A., Virtasalo, J. J., & Jilbert, T. (2020). Depth and intensity of the sulfate-methane transition zone control sedimentary molybdenum and uranium sequestration in a eutrophic low-salinity setting. *Applied Geochemistry*, *122*, 104767. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2020.104767
- Jorissen, F., Nardelli, M. P., Almogi-Labin, A., Barras, C., Bergamin, L., Bicchi, E., . . . Morigi, C. (2018). Developing Foram-AMBI for biomonitoring in the Mediterranean: Species assignments to ecological categories. *Marine Micropaleontology, 140*, 33–45. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2017.12.006
- Kasemann, S. A., Schmidt, D. N., Bijma, J., & Foster, G. L. (2009). In situ boron isotope analysis in marine carbonates and its application for foraminifera and palaeo-pH. Chemical Geology, 260(1–2), 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2008.12.015
- Katz, M. E., Cramer, B. S., Franzese, A., Hönisch, B., Miller, K. G., Rosenthal, Y., & Wright, J. D. (2010). Traditional and emerging geochemical proxies in foraminifera. *The Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 40(2), 165–192. https://doi.org/10.2113/gsjfr.40.2.165
- Kemp, W. M., Boynton, W. R., Adolf, J. E., Boesch, D. F., Boicourt, W. C., Brush, G., . . . Stevenson, J. C. (2005). Eutrophication of Chesapeake Bay: historical trends and ecological interactions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 303*, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.3354/ meps303001

COASTAL SIGNALS OF ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES: FORAMINIFERA AS BENTHIC MONITORS

- Kienast, S. S., Calvert, S. E., & Pedersen, T. F. (2002). Nitrogen isotope and productivity variations along the northeast Pacific margin over the last 120 kyr: Surface and subsurface paleoceanography. *Paleoceanography*, 17(4), 7-1-7-17. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2001PA000650
- Kita, N. T., Ushikubo, T., Fu, B., & Valley, J. W. (2009). High precision SIMS oxygen isotope analysis and the effect of sample topography. *Chemical Geology*, 264(1–4), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2009.02.012
- Koho, K. A., de Nooijer, L. J., Fontanier, C., Toyofuku, T., Oguri, K., Kitazato, H., & Reichart, G.-J. (2017). Benthic foraminiferal Mn / Ca ratios reflect microhabitat preferences. *Biogeosciences*, 14(12), 3067–3082. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-3067-2017
- Koho, K. A., De Nooijer, L. J., & Reichart, G.-J. (2015). Combining benthic foraminiferal ecology and shell Mn/ Ca to deconvolve past bottom water oxygenation and paleoproductivity. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 165, 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gca.2015.06.003
- Komada, T., Burdige, D. J., Li, H.-L., Magen, C., Chanton, J. P., & Cada, A. K. (2016). Organic matter cycling across the sulfate-methane transition zone of the Santa Barbara Basin, California Borderland. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 176, 259–278. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gca.2015.12.022
- Konovalov, S. K., Luther III, G. W., & Yücel, M. (2007). Porewater redox species and processes in the Black Sea sediments. *Chemical Geology*, 245(3-4), 254–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2007.08.010
- Kornhuber, K., Coumou, D., Vogel, E., Lesk, C., Donges, J. F., Lehmann, J., & Horton, R. M. (2019a). Amplified Rossby waves enhance risk of concurrent heatwaves in major breadbasket regions. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(1), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0637-z
- Kornhuber, K., Osprey, S., Coumou, D., Petri, S., Petoukhov, V., Rahmstorf, S., & Gray, L. (2019b). Extreme weather events in early summer 2018 connected by a recurrent hemispheric wave-7 pattern. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14(5), 054002. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab13bf
- Kozdon, R., Kelly, D., Kitajima, K., Strickland, A., Fournelle, J., & Valley, J. (2013). *In situ* δ¹⁸O and Mg/Ca analyses of diagenetic and planktic foraminiferal calcite preserved in a deep-sea record of the Paleocene-Eocene thermal maximum. *Paleoceanography, 28*(3), 517–528. https://doi.org/10.1002/palo.20048
- Kranner, M., Harzhauser, M., Beer, C., Auer, G., & Piller, W. E. (2022). Calculating dissolved marine oxygen values based on an enhanced Benthic Foraminifera Oxygen Index. *Scientific reports*, 12(1), 1376. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-05295-8

Kroeker, K. J., Kordas, R. L., Crim, R. N., & Singh, G. G. (2010). Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. *Ecology Letters*, 13(11), 1419–1434. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01518.x

- Kron, W., Löw, P., & Kundzewicz, Z. W. (2019). Changes in risk of extreme weather events in Europe. *Envi*ronmental Science & Policy, 100, 74–83. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.06.007
- Kucera, M. (2007). Chapter Six Planktonic foraminifera as tracers of past oceanic environments. In C. Hillaire– Marcel & A. De Vernal (Eds.), *Developments in Marine Geology* (Vol. 1, pp. 213–262): Elsevier. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1572-5480(07)01011-1
- Lacoursière-Roussel, A., Rosabal, M., & Bernatchez, L. (2016). Estimating fish abundance and biomass from eDNA concentrations: variability among capture methods and environmental conditions. *Molecular ecology resources, 16*(6), 1401–1414. https://doi. org/10.1111/1755-0998.12522
- Laffoley, D., & Baxter, J. M. (2019). Ocean deoxygenation: Everyone's problem. Causes, impacts, consquences and solutions. Full report. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.
- Laroche, O., Wood, S. A., Tremblay, L. A., Ellis, J. I., Lejzerowicz, F., Pawlowski, J., . . . Pochon, X. (2016). First evaluation of foraminiferal metabarcoding for monitoring environmental impact from an offshore oil drilling site. *Marine Environmental Research*, *120*, 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.08.009
- Law, G. T., Shimmield, T. M., Shimmield, G. B., Cowie, G. L., Breuer, E. R., & Harvey, S. M. (2009). Manganese, iron, and sulphur cycling on the Pakistan margin. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 56(6–7), 305–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dsr2.2008.06.011
- Lea, D. W., & Boyle, E. A. (1991). Barium in planktonic foraminifera. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 55(11), 3321–3331. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(91)90491-M
- Lea, D. W., Mashiotta, T. A., & Spero, H. J. (1999). Controls on magnesium and strontium uptake in planktonic foraminifera determined by live culturing. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 63(16), 2369–2379. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0016-7037(99)00197-0
- Lear, C. H., Rosenthal, Y., & Slowey, N. (2002). Benthic foraminiferal Mg/Ca-paleothermometry: a revised core-top calibration. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta,* 66(19), 3375–3387. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(02)00941-9
- Lear, C. H., Wilson, P. A., Shackleton, N. J., & Elderfield, H. (2000). Palaeotemperature and ocean chemistry records for the Palaeogene from Mg/Ca and Sr/Ca in benthic foraminiferal calcite. *Gff*, 122(1), 93–93.

https://doi.org/10.1080/11035890001221093

- Lear, G., Dickie, I., Banks, J., Boyer, S., Buckley, H. L., Buckley, T. R., . . . Hermans, S. (2018). Methods for the extraction, storage, amplification and sequencing of DNA from environmental samples. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, 42(1), 10–50A. https://www.jstor. org/stable/26538090
- Lehner, F., Coats, S., Stocker, T. F., Pendergrass, A. G., Sanderson, B. M., Raible, C. C., & Smerdon, J. E. (2017). Projected drought risk in 1.5°C and 2°C warmer climates. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 44(14), 7419–7428. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017gl074117
- Lejzerowicz, F., Esling, P., & Pawlowski, J. (2014). Patchiness of deep-sea benthic Foraminifera across the Southern Ocean: Insights from high-throughput DNA sequencing. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 108*, 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dsr2.2014.07.018
- Limburg, K. E., Breitburg, D., Swaney, D. P., & Jacinto, G. (2020). Ocean deoxygenation: A primer. One Earth, 2(1), 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2020.01.001
- Lindahl, O., Belgrano, A., Davidsson, L., & Hernroth, B. (1998). Primary production, climatic oscillations, and physico-chemical processes: the Gullmar Fjord time-series data set (1985–1996). *Ices Journal of Marine Science*, 55(4), 723–729. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jmsc.1998.0379
- Livsey, C. M., Kozdon, R., Bauch, D., Brummer, G.-J. A., Jonkers, L., Orland, I., . . . Spero, H. J. (2020). High-resolution Mg/Ca and δ¹⁸O patterns in modern *Neogloboquadrina pachyderma* from the Fram Strait and Irminger Sea. *Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology*, *35*(9), e2020PA003969. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2020PA003969
- Loos, M. R., Coelho, L. A. F., Pezzin, S. H., & Amico, S. C. (2008). The effect of acetone addition on the properties of epoxy. *Polimeros, 18*, 76–80. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0104-14282008000100015
- Lynn, R. J., & Simpson, J. J. (1987). The California Current System: The seasonal variability of its physical characteristics. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans,* 92(C12), 12947–12966. https://doi.org/10.1029/ JC092iC12p12947
- Madison, A. S., Tebo, B. M., & Luther, G. W. (2011). Simultaneous determination of soluble manganese(III), manganese(II) and total manganese in natural (pore)waters. *Talanta*, 84(2), 374–381. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.talanta.2011.01.025
- Markert, B. A., Breure, A. M., & Zechmeister, H. G. (2003). *Bioindicators and biomonitors*: Elsevier.
- Martinez-Ruiz, F., Paytan, A., Gonzalez-Muñoz, M. T., Jroundi, F., Abad, M. M., Lam, P. J., ... Kastner,

M. (2019). Barite formation in the ocean: Origin of amorphous and crystalline precipitates. *Chemical Geology*, *511*, 441–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemgeo.2018.09.011

Mashiotta, T. A., Lea, D. W., & Spero, H. J. (1999). Glacial-interglacial changes in Subantarctic sea surface temperature and δ¹⁸O-water using foraminiferal Mg. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, *170*(4), 417–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-821X(99)00116-8

- McCorkle, D. C., Bernhard, J. M., Hintz, C. J., Blanks, J. K., Chandler, G. T., & Shaw, T. J. (2008). The carbon and oxygen stable isotopic composition of cultured benthic foraminifera. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 303*(1), 135–154. https://doi. org/10.1144/SP303.10
- McCrea, J. M. (1950). On the isotopic chemistry of carbonates and a paleotemperature scale. *The Journal* of *Chemical Physics*, 18(6), 849–857. https://doi. org/10.1063/1.1747785
- McCulloch, M., Fallon, S., Wyndham, T., Hendy, E., Lough, J., & Barnes, D. (2003). Coral record of increased sediment flux to the inner Great Barrier Reef since European settlement. *Nature*, 421(6924), 727–730. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01361
- McKay, C. L., Groeneveld, J., Filipsson, H. L., Gallego-Torres, D., Whitehouse, M. J., Toyofuku, T., & Romero, O. E. (2015). A comparison of benthic foraminiferal Mn/Ca and sedimentary Mn/Al as proxies of relative bottom-water oxygenation in the low-latitude NE Atlantic upwelling system. *Biogeosciences*, 12(18), 5415–5428. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-12-5415-2015
- McManus, J., Berelson, W. M., Klinkhammer, G. P., Johnson, K. S., Coale, K. H., Anderson, R. F., . . . Rushdi, A. (1998). Geochemistry of barium in marine sed-iments: implications for its use as a paleoproxy. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 62*(21), 3453-3473. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(98)00248-8
- Middelburg, J. J., De Lange, G. J., & van Der Weijden, C. H. (1987). Manganese solubility control in marine pore waters. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 51(3), 759–763. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(87)90086-X
- Mojtahid, M., Hennekam, R., De Nooijer, L., Reichart, G.
 J., Jorissen, F., Boer, W., . . . De Lange, G. J. (2019).
 Evaluation and application of foraminiferal element/calcium ratios: Assessing riverine fluxes and environmental conditions during sapropel S1 in the Southeastern Mediterranean. *Marine Micropaleontology*, *153*, 101783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marmi-cro.2019.101783
- Monteiro, P. M., & van der Plas, A. K. (2006). 5 Low oxygen water (LOW) variability in the Benguela system: Key processes and forcing scales relevant to forecasting. In *Large Marine Ecosystems* (Vol. 14, pp. 71–90): Else-

vier.

- Morse, J. W., & Bender, M. L. (1990). Partition coefficients in calcite: Examination of factors influencing the validity of experimental results and their application to natural systems. *Chemical Geology*, *82*, 265–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-2541(90)90085-L
- Mortimer, R. J. G., Harris, S. J., Krom, M. D., Freitag, T. E., Prosser, J. I., Barnes, J., . . . Davies, I. (2004). Anoxic nitrification in marine sediments. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 276*, 37–52. https://doi.org/10.3354/ meps276037
- Mortimer, R. J. G., Krom, M. D., Harris, S. J., Hayes, P. J., Davies, I. M., Davison, W., & Zhang, H. (2002). Evidence for suboxic nitrification in recent marine sediments. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 236, 31–35. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps236031
- Mouret, A., Anschutz, P., Lecroart, P., Chaillou, G., Hyacinthe, C., Deborde, J., . . . Jouanneau, J.-M. (2009). Benthic geochemistry of manganese in the Bay of Biscay, and sediment mass accumulation rate. *Geo-Marine Letters*, 29(3), 133–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00367-008-0130-6
- Munsel, D., Kramar, U., Dissard, D., Nehrke, G., Berner, Z., Bijma, J., . . . Neumann, T. (2010). Heavy metal incorporation in foraminiferal calcite: results from multi-element enrichment culture experiments with *Ammonia tepida*. *Biogeosciences*, 7(8), 2339–2350. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-2339-2010
- Murray, J. W. (2006). *Ecology and Applications of Benthic Foraminifera*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Nardelli, M. P., Barras, C., Metzger, E., Mouret, A., Filipsson, H., Jorissen, F., & Geslin, E. (2014). Experimental evidence for foraminiferal calcification under anoxia. *Biogeosciences*, 11(14), 4029–4038. https://doi. org/10.5194/bg-11-4029-2014
- Naumann, G., Spinoni, J., Vogt, J. V., & Barbosa, P. (2015). Assessment of drought damages and their uncertainties in Europe. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(12), 124013. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124013
- Nehrke, G., Keul, N., Langer, G., De Nooijer, L., Bijma, J., & Meibom, A. (2013). A new model for biomineralization and trace-element signatures of Foraminifera tests. *Biogeosciences*, 10(10), 6759-6767. https://doi. org/10.5194/bg-10-6759-2013
- Ní Fhlaithearta, S., Fontanier, C., Jorissen, F., Mouret, A., Dueñas-Bohórquez, A., Anschutz, P., . . . Reichart, G.-J. (2018). Manganese incorporation in living (stained) benthic foraminiferal shells: A bathymetric and in-sediment study in the Gulf of Lions (NW Mediterranean). *Biogeosciences, 15*, 6315–6328. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-6315-2018

Ní Fhlaithearta, S., Reichart, G. J., Jorissen, F. J., Fontanier,

C., Rohling, E. J., Thomson, J., & De Lange, G. J. (2010). Reconstructing the seafloor environment during sapropel formation using benthic foraminiferal trace metals, stable isotopes, and sediment composition. *Paleoceanography*, *25*(4), PA4225. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009pa001869

- Ni, S., Quintana Krupinski, N. B., Groeneveld, J., Fanget, A. S., Böttcher, M. E., Liu, B., . . . Filipsson, H. L. (2020). Holocene hydrographic variations from the Baltic-North Sea transitional area (IODP site M0059). *Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology*, 35(2), e2019PA003722. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2019pa003722
- Ni, S., Quintana Krupinski, N. B., Groeneveld, J., Persson, P., Somogyi, A., Brinkmann, I., . . . Filipsson, H. L. (2020). Early diagenesis of foraminiferal calcite under anoxic conditions: A case study from the Landsort Deep, Baltic Sea (IODP Site M0063). *Chemical Geology, 558*, 119871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemgeo.2020.119871
- Nordberg, K., Filipsson, H. L., Gustafsson, M., Harland, R., & Roos, P. (2001). Climate, hydrographic variations and marine benthic hypoxia in Koljö Fjord, Sweden. *Journal of Sea Research, 46*(3–4), 187–200. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1385-1101(01)00084-3
- Nordberg, K., Gustafsson, M., & Krantz, A. L. (2000). Decreasing oxygen concentrations in the Gullmar Fjord, Sweden, as confirmed by benthic foraminifera, and the possible association with NAO. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 23(4), 303–316. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0924-7963(99)00067-6
- Nürnberg, D., Bijma, J., & Hemleben, C. (1996). Assessing the reliability of magnesium in foraminiferal calcite as a proxy for water mass temperatures. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 60(5), 803–814. https://doi. org/10.1016/0016-7037(95)00446-7
- O'Brien, P. A. J., Polovodova Asteman, I., & Bouchet, V. M. P. (2021). Benthic foraminiferal indices and environmental quality assessment of transitional waters: A review of current challenges and future research perspectives. *Water*, *13*(14), 1898. https://doi. org/10.3390/w13141898
- Oldham, V. E., Mucci, A., Tebo, B. M., & Luther, G. W. (2017). Soluble Mn(III)–L complexes are abundant in oxygenated waters and stabilized by humic ligands. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 199, 238–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2016.11.043
- Oldham, V. E., Owings, S. M., Jones, M. R., Tebo, B. M., & Luther, G. W. (2015). Evidence for the presence of strong Mn(III)-binding ligands in the water column of the Chesapeake Bay. *Marine Chemistry*, 171, 58–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2015.02.008
- Orsi, W. D., Morard, R., Vuillemin, A., Eitel, M., Wörheide, G., Milucka, J., & Kucera, M. (2020). Anaerobic metabolism of Foraminifera thriving below the sea-

floor. *The ISME journal, 14*(10), 2580–2594. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0708-1

- Oschlies, A., Brandt, P., Stramma, L., & Schmidtko, S. (2018). Drivers and mechanisms of ocean deoxygenation. *Nature Geoscience*, *11*(7), 467–473. https://doi. org/:10.1038/s41561-018-0152-2
- Parent, B., Hyams-Kaphzan, O., Barras, C., Lubinevsky, H., & Jorissen, F. (2021). Testing foraminiferal environmental quality indices along a well-defined organic matter gradient in the Eastern Mediterranean. *Ecological Indicators, 125*, 107498. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.107498
- Parmesan, C., Morecroft, M., Trisurat, Y., Adrian, R., Anshari, G., Arneth, A., . . . Price, J. (2022). *Terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems and their services*. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of working group II to the sixth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press. https://doi. org/10.1017/9781009325844.004.
- Pawlowski, J. (2000). Introduction to the molecular systematics of foraminifera. *Micropaleontology*, 46, 1-12. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1486176
- Pawlowski, J., Bruce, K., Panksep, K., Aguirre, F. I., Amalfitano, S., Apothéloz-Perret-Gentil, L., . . . Fazi, S. (2022). Environmental DNA metabarcoding for benthic monitoring: A review of sediment sampling and DNA extraction methods. *Science of the Total Environment, 818*, 151783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.151783
- Pawlowski, J., Fahrni, J. F., Brykczynska, U., Habura, A., & Bowser, S. S. (2002). Molecular data reveal high taxonomic diversity of allogromiid Foraminifera in Explorers Cove (McMurdo Sound, Antarctica). *Polar Biology*, 25(2), 96–105. :https://doi.org/10.1007/ s003000100317
- Pawlowski, J., & Holzmann, M. (2014). A plea for DNA barcoding of foraminifera. The Journal of Foraminiferal Research, 44(1), 62–67. https://doi.org/10.2113/ gsjfr.44.1.62
- Pawlowski, J., Holzmann, M., Berney, C., Fahrni, J., Gooday, A. J., Cedhagen, T., . . . Bowser, S. S. (2003). The evolution of early Foraminifera. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(20), 11494–11498. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2035132100
- Pawlowski, J., Holzmann, M., & Tyszka, J. (2013). New supraordinal classification of Foraminifera: Molecules meet morphology. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 100, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2013.04.002
- Pawlowski, J., Kelly-Quinn, M., Altermatt, F., Apothéloz-Perret-Gentil, L., Beja, P., Boggero, A., . . . Domaizon, I. (2018). The future of biotic indices in the ecogenomic era: Integrating (e) DNA metabarcoding in biological assessment of aquatic ecosystems. *Science*

of the Total Environment, 637, 1295–1310. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.002

- Pawlowski, J., & Lecroq, B. (2010). Short rDNA barcodes for species identification in foraminifera. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 57(2), 197–205. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2009.00468.x
- Pawlowski, J., Lejzerowicz, F., & Esling, P. (2014). Next-generation environmental diversity surveys of Foraminifera: Preparing the future. *The Biological Bulletin, 227*(2), 93–106. https://doi.org/10.1086/ BBLv227n2p93
- Pawlowski, J., Majewski, W., Longet, D., Guiard, J., Cedhagen, T., Gooday, A. J., . . . Bowser, S. S. (2008). Genetic differentiation between Arctic and Antarctic monothalamous foraminiferans. *Polar Biology*, *31*(10), 1205–1216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-008-0459-3
- Paytan, A., & Griffith, E. M. (2007). Marine barite: Recorder of variations in ocean export productivity. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 54(5-7), 687–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dsr2.2007.01.007
- Paytan, A., & Kastner, M. (1996). Benthic Ba fluxes in the central Equatorial Pacific, implications for the oceanic Ba cycle. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 142(3), 439–450. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-821X(96)00120-3
- Pearman, J. K., Keeley, N. B., Wood, S. A., Laroche, O., Zaiko, A., Thomson-Laing, G., . . . Pochon, X. (2020). Comparing sediment DNA extraction methods for assessing organic enrichment associated with marine aquaculture. *PeerJ*, 8, e10231. https://doi. org/10.7717/peerj.10231
- Pearson, P. N. (2012). Oxygen isotopes in foraminifera: Overview and historical review. *The Paleontological Society Papers*, 18, 1–38. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1089332600002539
- Pena, L. D., Cacho, I., Calvo, E., Pelejero, C., Eggins, S., & Sadekov, A. (2008). Characterization of contaminant phases in foraminifera carbonates by electron microprobe mapping. *Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems,* 9(7). https://doi.org/10.1029/2008gc002018
- Pena, M., Katsev, S., Oguz, T., & Gilbert, D. (2010). Modeling dissolved oxygen dynamics and hypoxia. *Biogeosciences*, 7(3), 933–957. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-933-2010
- Perner, K., Moros, M., Lloyd, J. M., Jansen, E., & Stein, R. (2015). Mid to late Holocene strengthening of the East Greenland Current linked to warm subsurface Atlantic water. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 129, 296–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2015.10.007
- Peters, W., Bastos, A., Ciais, P., & Vermeulen, A. (2020). A

historical, geographical and ecological perspective on the 2018 European summer drought. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 375*(1810), 20190505. https:// doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0505

- Petersen, J., Barras, C., Bézos, A., La, C., Slomp, C. P., Meysman, F. J. R., . . . Jorissen, F. J. (2019). Mn/Ca ratios of *Ammonia tepida* as a proxy for seasonal coastal hypoxia. *Chemical Geology*, 518, 55–66. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2019.04.002
- Pettersson, O., & Ekman, G. (1891). Grundfragen af Skageracks och Kattegats hydrografi.
- Pillet, L., Fontaine, D., & Pawlowski, J. (2012). Intra-genomic ribosomal RNA polymorphism and morphological variation in *Elphidium macellum* suggests inter-specific hybridization in Foraminifera. *PloS one*, 7(2), e32373. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032373
- Piña-Ochoa, E., Høgslund, S., Geslin, E., Cedhagen, T., Revsbech, N. P., Nielsen, L. P., . . . Risgaard-Petersen, N. (2010). Widespread occurrence of nitrate storage and denitrification among Foraminifera and Gromiida. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107*(3), 1148–1153. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0908440107
- Pitcher, G. C., Aguirre-Velarde, A., Breitburg, D., Cardich, J., Carstensen, J., Conley, D. J., . . . Zhu, Z. Y. (2021). System controls of coastal and open ocean oxygen depletion. *Progress in Oceanography, 197*, 102613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2021.102613
- Polovodova Asteman, I., & Nordberg, K. (2013). Foraminiferal fauna from a deep basin in Gullmar Fjord: The influence of seasonal hypoxia and North Atlantic Oscillation. *Journal of Sea Research, 79*, 40–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2013.02.001
- Rabalais, N. N., Díaz, R. J., Levin, L. A., Turner, R. E., Gilbert, D., & Zhang, J. (2010). Dynamics and distribution of natural and human-caused hypoxia. *Biogeosciences*, 7(2), 585–619. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-585-2010
- Rabalais, N. N., Turner, R. E., Dortch, Q., Justic, D., Bierman, V. J., & Wiseman, W. J. (2002). Nutrient-enhanced productivity in the northern Gulf of Mexico: past, present and future. In *Nutrients and Eutrophication in Estuaries and Coastal Waters* (pp. 39–63): Springer.
- Reichart, G.-J., Jorissen, F., Anschutz, P., & Mason, P. R. D. (2003). Single foraminiferal test chemistry records the marine environment. *Geology*, *31*(4), 355–358. https://doi. org/10.1130/0091-7613(2003)031<0355:SFT-CRT>2.0.CO;2
- Reimers, C. E., Lange, C. B., Tabak, M., & Bernhard, J. M. (1990). Seasonal spillover and varve formation in the Santa Barbara Basin, California. *Limnology and ocean*ography, 35(7), 1577–1585. https://doi.org/10.4319/ lo.1990.35.7.1577

- Reimers, C. E., Ruttenberg, K. C., Canfield, D. E., Christiansen, M. B., & Martin, J. B. (1996). Porewater pH and authigenic phases formed in the uppermost sediments of the Santa Barbara Basin. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 60(21), 4037–4057. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0016-7037(96)00231-1
- Rhein, M., Rintoul, S. R., Aoki, S., Campos, E., Chambers, D., Feely, R. A., . . . Kostianoy, A. (2013). Observations: ocean. . In: *Climate Change 2013*: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Richirt, J., Schweizer, M., Bouchet, V. M. P., Mouret, A., Quinchard, S., & Jorissen, F. J. (2019). Morphological distinction of three *Ammonia* phylotypes occurring along European coasts. *Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 49(1), 76–93. https://doi.org/10.2113/gsjfr.49.1.76
- Richirt, J., Schweizer, M., Mouret, A., Quinchard, S., Saad, S. A., Bouchet, V. M. P., . . . Jorissen, F. J. (2021). Biogeographic distribution of three phylotypes (T1, T2 and T6) of *Ammonia* (foraminifera, Rhizaria) around Great Britain: new insights from combined molecular and morphological recognition. *Journal of Micropalaeontolology*, 40(1), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.5194/ jm-40-61-2021
- Risgaard-Petersen, N., Langezaal, A. M., Ingvardsen, S.,
 Schmid, M. C., Jetten, M. S. M., Op den Camp, H.
 J. M., . . . van der Zwaan, G. J. (2006). Evidence for complete denitrification in a benthic foraminifer. *Nature*, 443, 93. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05070
- Roberts, A., Austin, W., Evans, K., Bird, C., Schweizer, M., & Darling, K. (2016). A new integrated approach to taxonomy: The fusion of molecular and morphological systematics with type material in benthic Foraminifera. *PloS one*, 11(7), e0158754. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158754
- Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C., & Mahé, F. (2016). VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ*, 4, e2584. https://doi. org/10.7717/peerj.2584
- Rosenberg, R., Hellman, B., & Johansson, B. (1991). Hypoxic tolerance of marine benthic fauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 79(1–2), 127–131. https://doi. org/10.3354/meps079127
- Russo, S., Sillmann, J., & Fischer, E. M. (2015). Top ten European heatwaves since 1950 and their occurrence in the coming decades. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(12), 124003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124003
- Saha, N., Rodriguez-Ramirez, A., Nguyen, A. D., Clark, T. R., Zhao, J.-x., & Webb, G. E. (2018). Seasonal to decadal scale influence of environmental drivers on Ba/Ca and Y/Ca in coral aragonite from the southern Great Barrier Reef. *Science of the Total Environment, 639*, 1099–1109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

scitotenv.2018.05.156

- Sano, Y., Shirai, K., Takahata, N., Hirata, T., & Sturchio, N. C. (2005). Nano-SIMS analysis of Mg, Sr, Ba and U in natural calcium carbonate. *Analytical Sciences*, 21(9), 1091-1097. https://doi.org/10.2116/analsci.21.1091
- Sars, G. O. (1872). Undersogelser over Hardangerfjordens fauna. Fordhandlunger i Videnskabsselsk.] i Kristiana, 871, 246–255.
- Schmidt, C., Geslin, E., Bernhard, J. M., LeKieffre, C., Svenning, M. M., Roberge, H., . . . Panieri, G. (2022).
 Deposit-feeding of *Nonionellina labradorica* (foraminifera) from an Arctic methane seep site and possible association with a methanotroph. *Biogeosciences*, 19(16), 3897–3909. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-19-3897-2022
- Schmidtko, S., Stramma, L., & Visbeck, M. (2017). Decline in global oceanic oxygen content during the past five decades. *Nature*, 542, 335. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature21399
- Schönfeld, J., Alve, E., Geslin, E., Jorissen, F., Korsun, S., & Spezzaferri, S. (2012). The FOBIMO (FOraminiferal BIO-MOnitoring) initiative—Towards a standardised protocol for soft-bottom benthic foraminiferal monitoring studies. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 94, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marmicro.2012.06.001
- Scholz, F., McManus, J., & Sommer, S. (2013). The manganese and iron shuttle in a modern euxinic basin and implications for molybdenum cycling at euxinic ocean margins. *Chemical Geology*, 355, 56–68. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2013.07.006
- Schweizer, M., Pawlowski, J., Duijnstee, I. A. P., Kouwenhoven, T. J., & van der Zwaan, G. J. (2005). Molecular phylogeny of the foraminiferal genus Uvigerina based on ribosomal DNA sequences. Marine Micropaleontology, 57(3), 51–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marmicro.2005.07.001
- Schweizer, M., Polovodova, I., Nikulina, A., & Schönfeld, J. (2011). Molecular identification of *Ammonia* and *Elphidium* species (Foraminifera, Rotaliida) from the Kiel Fjord (SW Baltic Sea) with rDNA sequences. *Helgoland Marine Research*, 65(1), 1–10. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10152-010-0194-3
- Seidenkrantz, M.-S., Ebbesen, H., Aagaard-Sørensen, S., Moros, M., Lloyd, J. M., Olsen, J., . . . Kuijpers, A. (2013). Early Holocene large-scale meltwater discharge from Greenland documented by foraminifera and sediment parameters. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 391*, 71–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2012.04.006
- Sen Gupta, B. K. (1999). *Modern foraminifera*: Springer Dordrecht.
- Shackleton, N. (1967). Oxygen isotope analyses and Pleistocene temperatures re-assessed. *Nature*, 215(5096),

15-17. https://doi.org/10.1038/215015a0

- Shetye, S., Mohan, R., Shukla, S. K., Maruthadu, S., & Ravindra, R. (2011). Variability of *Nonionellina labradorica* Dawson in surface sediments from Kongsfjorden, West Spitsbergen. *Acta Geologica Sinica - English Edition, 85*(3), 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1755-6724.2011.00450.x
- Sholkovitz, E. R., & Gieskes, J. M. (1971). A physical-chemical study of the flushing of the Santa Barbara Basin. *Limnology and oceanography*, 16(3), 479–489. https:// doi.org/10.4319/lo.1971.16.3.0479
- Siemensma, F., Holzmann, M., Apothéloz-Perret-Gentil, L., Clauß, S., Voelcker, E., Bettighofer, W., . . . Pawlowski, J. (2021). Broad sampling of monothalamids (Rhizaria, Foraminifera) gives further insight into diversity of non-marine Foraminifera. *European Journal* of Protistology, 77, 125744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejop.2020.125744
- Sierra, R., Mauffrey, F., Cruz, J., Holzmann, M., Gooday, A. J., Maurer-Alcalá, X., . . . Pawlowski, J. (2022). Taxon-rich transcriptomics supports higher-level phylogeny and major evolutionary trends in Foraminifera. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 174, 107546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2022.107546
- Slomp, C. P., Malschaert, J. F. P., Lohse, L., & Van Raaphorst, W. (1997). Iron and manganese cycling in different sedimentary environments on the North Sea continental margin. *Continental Shelf Research*, 17(9), 1083–1117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-4343(97)00005-8
- SMHI (2022). Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute's database [data set], https://www.smhi.se/, last access: 10 February 2022.
- Soetaert, K., Herman, P. M., & Middelburg, J. J. (1996). A model of early diagenetic processes from the shelf to abyssal depths. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 60(6), 1019–1040. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(96)00013-0
- Steiger, N. J., Smerdon, J. E., Cook, E. R., & Cook, B. I. (2018). A reconstruction of global hydroclimate and dynamical variables over the Common Era. *Scientific Data*, 5(1), 180086. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.86
- Sulu-Gambari, F., Roepert, A., Jilbert, T., Hagens, M., Meysman, F. J. R., & Slomp, C. P. (2017). Molybdenum dynamics in sediments of a seasonally-hypoxic coastal marine basin. *Chemical Geology*, 466, 627–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2017.07.015
- Sundby, B. (2006). Transient state diagenesis in continental margin muds. *Marine Chemistry*, 102(1), 2–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2005.09.016
- Sundby, B., & Silverberg, N. (1985). Manganese fluxes in the benthic boundary layer. *Limnology and oceanog-*

raphy, 30(2), 372–381. https://doi.org/10.4319/ lo.1985.30.2.0372

- Tallaksen, L. M., & Van Lanen, H. A. (2004). *Hydrological* drought: processes and estimation methods for streamflow and groundwater. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier.
- Tappan, H., & Loeblich, A. R. (1988). Foraminiferal evolution, diversification, and extinction. *Journal of Paleontology, 62*(5), 695–714. https://www.jstor.org/ stable/1305391
- ter Kuile, B., Erez, J., & Padan, E. (1989). Mechanisms for the uptake of inorganic carbon by two species of symbiont-bearing foraminifera. *Marine Biology*, *103*(2), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00543354
- Tetard, M., Licari, L., Ovsepyan, E., Tachikawa, K., & Beaufort, L. (2021). Toward a global calibration for quantifying past oxygenation in oxygen minimum zones using benthic Foraminifera. *Biogeosciences*, 18(9), 2827–2841. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-18-2827-2021
- Thakur, R., Collens, A. B., Greco, M., Sleith, R. S., Grattepanche, J.-D., & Katz, L. A. (2022). Newly designed foraminifera primers identify habitat-specific lineages through metabarcoding analyses. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 69(3), e12913. https://doi. org/10.1111/jeu.12913
- Thamdrup, B. (2000). Bacterial manganese and iron reduction in aquatic sediments. In B. Schink (Ed.), Advances in Microbial Ecology (pp. 41-84). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Thamdrup, B., Glud, R. N., & Hansen, J. W. (1994). Manganese oxidation and in situ manganese fluxes from a coastal sediment. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 58(11), 2563–2570. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7037(94)90032-9
- Titelboim, D., Thangarjan, S., Raposo, D., Morard, R., Kucera, M., Ashckenazi-Polivoda, S., . . . Abdu, U. (2021). The transcriptomic signature of cold and heat stress in benthic foraminifera—Implications for range expansions of marine calcifiers. *Functional Ecology*, 35(12), 2679–2690. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13929
- Toimil, A., Losada, I. J., Nicholls, R. J., Dalrymple, R. A., & Stive, M. J. F. (2020). Addressing the challenges of climate change risks and adaptation in coastal areas: A review. *Coastal Engineering*, 156, 103611. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2019.103611
- Toreti, A., Belward, A., Perez-Dominguez, I., Naumann, G., Luterbacher, J., Cronie, O., . . . Zampieri, M. (2019). The Exceptional 2018 European Water Seesaw Calls for Action on Adaptation. *Earth's Future*, 7(6), 652– 663. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001170
- Toreti, A., Masante, D., Juan, A. N., Bavera, D., Cammaleri, C., De Jager, A., . . . Magni, D. (2022). *Drought*

in Europe July 2022. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/014884, JRC130253

- Tribovillard, N., Algeo, T. J., Lyons, T., & Riboulleau, A. (2006). Trace metals as paleoredox and paleoproductivity proxies: An update. *Chemical Geology*, 232(1-2), 12–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2006.02.012
- Tsuchiya, M., Gooday, A. J., Nomaki, H., Oguri, K., & Kitazato, H. (2013). Genetic diversity and environmental preferences of monothalamous foraminifers revealed through clone analysis of environmental small-subunit ribosomal DNA sequences. *Journal* of *Foraminiferal Research*, 43(1), 3–13. https://doi. org/10.2113/gsjfr.43.1.3
- Urey, H. C., Lowenstam, H. A., Epstein, S., & McKinney, C.
 R. (1951). Measurement of paleotemperatures and temperatures of the Upper Cretaceous of England, Denmark, and the southeastern United States. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 62(4), 399–416. https://doi.org/10.1130/0016-7606(1951)62[399
 :MOPATO]2.0.CO;2
- Uthicke, S., Momigliano, P., & Fabricius, K. E. (2013). High risk of extinction of benthic foraminifera in this century due to ocean acidification. *Scientific reports*, *3*(1), 1769. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01769
- van der Weijden, C. H., Reichart, G. J., & Visser, H. J. (1999). Enhanced preservation of organic matter in sediments deposited within the oxygen minimum zone in the northeastern Arabian Sea. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 46(5), 807–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-0637(98)00093-4
- van Dijk, I., Mouret, A., Cotte, M., Le Houedec, S., Oron, S., Reichart, G.-J., . . . Barras, C. (2019). Chemical heterogeneity of Mg, Mn, Na, S, and Sr in benthic foraminiferal calcite. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 7. https:// doi.org/10.3389/feart.2019.00281
- van Geen, A., Zheng, Y., Bernhard, J. M., Cannariato, K. G., Carriquiry, J., Dean, W. E., . . . Pike, J. (2003). On the preservation of laminated sediments along the western margin of North America. *Paleoceanography*, 18(4), 1098. https://doi.org/10.1029/2003PA000911
- Vaquer-Sunyer, R., & Duarte, C. M. (2008). Thresholds of hypoxia for marine biodiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(40), 15452–15457. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0803833105
- Vaquer-Sunyer, R., & Duarte, C. M. (2011). Temperature effects on oxygen thresholds for hypoxia in marine benthic organisms. *Global Change Biology*, 17(5), 1788–1797. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02343.x
- Vázquez-Domínguez, E., Vaqué, D., & Gasol, J. M. (2007). Ocean warming enhances respiration and carbon demand of coastal microbial plankton. *Global Change Biology*, 13(7), 1327–1334. https://doi.org/10.1111/

j.1365-2486.2007.01377.x

- Vogel, M. M., Zscheischler, J., Wartenburger, R., Dee, D., & Seneviratne, S. I. (2019). Concurrent 2018 hot extremes across Northern Hemisphere due to human-induced climate change. *Earths Future*, 7(7), 692–703. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001189
- Von Breymann, M. T., Emeis, K.-C., & Suess, E. (1992). Water depth and diagenetic constraints on the use of barium as a palaeoproductivity indicator. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 64*(1), 273–284. https://doi.org/10.1144/gsl.Sp.1992.064.01.18
- Weber, A. A., & Pawlowski, J. (2014). Wide occurrence of SSU rDNA intragenomic polymorphism in Foraminifera and its implications for molecular species identification. *Protist*, 165(5), 645–661. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.protis.2014.07.006
- Weilnhammer, V., Schmid, J., Mittermeier, I., Schreiber, F., Jiang, L., Pastuhovic, V., . . . Heinze, S. (2021). Extreme weather events in europe and their health consequences – A systematic review. *International Journal* of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 233, 113688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113688
- Wijsman, J. W. M., Middelburg, J. J., Herman, P. M. J., Böttcher, M. E., & Heip, C. H. R. (2001). Sulfur and iron speciation in surface sediments along the northwestern margin of the Black Sea. *Marine Chemistry*, 74(4), 261–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4203(01)00019-6
- Wit, J. C., de Nooijer, L. J., Barras, C., Jorissen, F. J., & Reichart, G. J. (2012). A reappraisal of the vital effect in cultured benthic foraminifer *Bulimina marginata* on Mg/Ca values: assessing temperature uncertainty relationships. *Biogeosciences*, 9(9), 3693–3704. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-3693-2012
- Wolgemuth, K., & Broecker, W. S. (1970). Barium in sea water. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 8(5), 372–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-821X(70)90110-X
- Zeebe, R. E., Bijma, J., Hönisch, B., Sanyal, A., Spero, H. J., & Wolf-Gladrow, D. A. (2008). Vital effects and beyond: a modelling perspective on developing palaeoceanographical proxy relationships in foraminifera. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 303*(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1144/SP303.4
- Zeebe, R. E., & Wolf-Gladrow, D. (2001). CO₂ in seawater: equilibrium, kinetics, isotopes: Gulf Professional Publishing.
- Zhang, J., Gilbert, D., Gooday, A. J., Levin, L., Naqvi, S. W.
 A., Middelburg, J. J., . . . Van der Plas, A. K. (2010).
 Natural and human-induced hypoxia and consequences for coastal areas: synthesis and future development. *Biogeosciences*, 7(5), 1443–1467. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-1443-2010



Quaternary Sciences Department of Geology Lund University Sölvegatan 12 SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden Telephone +46 46 222 78 80

> ISSN 0281-3033 ISBN 978-91-87847-66-0

